Cultural Resource Evaluation Report for

Mt. SAC SEIR for 2015 Facilities Master Plan
Update and Physical Education Projects, Wainut,
Los Angeles County, California

Shannon Davis, M.A.
Senior Architectural Historian

Jennifer Gorman, M.H.P.
Senior Architectural Historian

Sherri Andrews, M.A.
Senior Archaeologist

20 N. Raymond Ave., Suite 220
Pasadena, California 91103

(626) 793-7395 ASM Project Number 24940.02







Cultural Resource Evaluation Report for

Mt. SAC SEIR for 2015 Facilities Master Plan
Update and Physical Education Projects, Walnut,
Los Angeles County, California

Prepared for:

Mikaela Klein, AIA, LEED AP®

Senior Facilities Planner

Mt. San Antonio College

Facilities Planning & Management

1100 N. Grand Ave., Bldg. 46, Rm. 1040
Walnut, California 91789

(909) 274-5720

Prepared by:

Shannon Davis, M.A.
Senior Architectural Historian

Jennifer Gorman, M.H.P.
Senior Architectural Historian

Sherri Andrews, M.A., RPA
Senior Archaeologist

ASM Affiliates, Inc.

20 N. Raymond Ave., Suite 220
Pasadena, California 91103
(626) 793-7395

PN 24940.02
April 2016







Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter Page

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY w.....oiiiiiieicceeeesnss s s e s s s s s sssssssssss s s s s s s s s s s mmsssssssssssessnnsnnnnnnnes iv

1. INTRODUCTION ... ciierrrcmessssss s s s e s e s s s s mssss s s s s s e e s e e s nnmms s sn s s e e n e e e nnnnnnnnen 1

1.1 PROJECT LOCATION AND SETTING.....ccoiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 1

1.2 PROJECT DESCRIPTION ..ottt 7

1.3 METHODOLOGY ....ooiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee ettt a e e e e e e e e 7

1.4 RECORDS SEARCH RESULTS ....cooiiiiiiie e 8

1.5 NATIVE AMERICAN HERITAGE COMMISSION .....ccooiiiiiiiiiii, 9

1.6 PROJECT PERSONNEL .....ootiiiiiiiie 9

2. REGULATORY FRAMEWORK .........ceeciiiiieerrrecessscss s s e e s e e s s smmssssss s s s e e eennns 11

2.1 CALIFORNIA REGISTER OF HISTORICAL RESOURCES. ............ccooeiiiiieeee. 11

D22 e T 141 (=T | 1 2P 11

2.2 CEQAHISTORIC RESOURCES........coiiiiiii 12

2.3 SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS.........ccoiiiieiiieeieeeeeeeeeeee 13

2.4 CRITERIA FOR ASSESSING VISUAL IMPACTS ... 14

At B I =Y {1 11T 1 PP 14

2.4.2 Adverse Visual IMPactS........oooiiiiiiiiiiii e 15

2.4.3  ODbStructive IMPACES .........uuuiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ittt ee e eeeeees 16

3. HISTORIC CONTEXT ......coiiieeiiiiiiimeisirrnens s s s s smssss s s s s smnsss s s s s mmn s s s s smnnssssnennnns 17
3.1  BRIEF HISTORY OF THE SAN GABRIEL VALLEY AND

WALNUT, CALIFORNIA ... e 17

3.2 EARLY EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES IN WALNUT AND SAN GABRIEL VALLEY17

3.3 MT. SAC PROPERTY HISTORY ... 18

3.3.1  Mount San Antonio Athletic Facilities ..............ccccoiiii 19

4. IDENTIFICATION OF HISTORIC RESOURCES ...........ommrreeeeecerereeeeeees 21

4.1 ARCHITECTURAL HISTORY SURVEY ...ccoiiiiiiii 21

411  Mt. SAC HisStoriC DiStriCt..........uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeee e 21

4.1.2 Hilmer Lodge Stadium (Buildings 50A-H) ...........oveiiiiiiiicee e, 23

4.1.3 Oden House (BUIldINgS 12A/B).......uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e 28

g O = TUT o [ o i 1 NP 29

g O T = TUT 1 o 1o o PP 30

g LG = TUT 1 o [ o G PP 31

g A = TUT o [ o R AP 32

g T T = TUT o g o PP 34

g e T = TUT1 o 1o o it I PP 34

g e O = TWT o [ T i PP 35

4.1.11 BUIldiNGS 26A/BID ......uveieiieeieeieieieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeeaeeeees 35

4.1.12 BUIldING 26C...... . ettt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et eeeeeeeeeeee et e e e eeeneeeeeeeeeeeeees 38

4.1.13 BUIldiNGS 28A/Bi.......uuueeeiiiieiiieiiieeeeeeeeeteeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaeseeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaeneees 39

g g = TUT o [ T AP PP PP 40

g O ST = TUT o g T PP 41

4.1.16 Farm Buildings HiStOry ..........cooiiimmiiiiii e 42

4.1.17 Wildlife SANCIUAIY .......ceeeiiiiiiee e 50

4.1.18 Previously Documented Contributing Resources............ccccvviceeiiiieiiieeennnnnn. 51

CRER Mt. SAC SEIR for 2015 FMPU and PEP i



Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter Page
4.2 ARCHAEOLOGICAL SURVEY ...ttt 54

4.3 SUMMARY ...oeeiiiiieeii ittt ettt e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et eeaeeeeaannnaes 55

5. EVALUATION OF HISTORIC RESOURCES..........ooiiriiirrrrrrnness 57
5.1 MT. SAC HISTORIC DISTRICT ...oetiiieeeeeiiiiiiieee et e e e 57

5.2 INDIVIDUAL ELIGIBILITY ..ottt a e e 63

5.2.1  Technology Center (28A/B).........uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 64

5.2.2 Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H) ........oommriiii e 64

6. IMPACTS ASSESSMENT ... s 65
6.1 DIRECT IMPACTS ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ennnnees 65

G200 O B I 7= o T ][4 o PSRRI 65

6.1.2  ReNOVALION.....ciiiiiiiiieiieeeeeee 65

6.2 INDIRECT IMPACTS ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e nnnnnes 65

7. MITIGATION MEASURES......... s 69
7.1 ARCHAEOLOGICAL MITIGATION MEASURES...........cctiiiiiieiieiiieeeeee e 69

7.2 HISTORIC RESOURCE MITIGATION MEASURES.........ccoviiiiiiiiiiieieee e 69

8. CUMULATIVE IMPACTS. ... s s s s smmsss s s s s nm s 73
9. CONCLUSION ... s 75
REFERENGCES ... s s s s s n s s s s s s s s nnnnnnnnnnns 77
APPENDICES ...... oo s e s nm s s e s s nmmm s n s s e e e e e e nmmmnnnen 79

APPENDIX A. DPR-523 Forms

APPENDIX B. SCCIC Records Search

APPENDIX C. NAHC Response Letter

APPENDIX D. Original Architectural Drawings

APPENDIX E. Facility Description of the Stadium Press Box

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1. ProjecCt VICINITY MaP. ... ...uuieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeieeeeeeieteeeeeeeeaeeeeeeteeessessssssssssssssssesssssssssssssssnsssnsssnsnsnsnnns 2
Figure 2.  Project location map on USGS topographiC Map........ccccuveeeieeiiiiiiiiiiieee e ee e 3
Figure 3.  Project area map with Area of Potential Effect (direct and indirect) highlighted. ...................... 5
Figure 4. Mt. SAC Historic District identifying contributing resources and demolished

contributors, as of November 2015, ... e 22
Figure 5.  View looking southwest at Hilmer Lodge Stadium, including the track, western

bleachers, and press bBOX (50D). ......ueiiiiiiiiie e 25
Figure 6. View looking east from western bleachers toward eastern bleachers. ..............cccccoii 25
Figure 7.  Press box (50F), view looking west of east fagade. ...........cccccoiiiiiiiiiii e, 26
Figure 8.  Field House (50G), view looking southeast of east and north fagades. ............ccccceeiininnn. 26
Figure 9. Concessions building (50H), view looking west of east and north fagades. ........................... 27
Figure 10. Detail view of track, view looking southeast of southwest section. ..............ccccoveeviiiiiiiiinnnen. 27
Figure 11. Oden House (12A) and garage (12B) to the right, view looking north

At SOULN fAGAE. ..o e e e e e e e e e e e s e e e 28

ii ASM Affiliates, Inc.



Table of Contents

Figure 12.
Figure 13.
Figure 14.
Figure 15.
Figure 16.
Figure 17.
Figure 18.
Figure 19.
Figure 20.
Figure 21.
Figure 22.
Figure 23.
Figure 24.
Figure 25.
Figure 26.
Figure 27.
Figure 28.
Figure 29.
Figure 30.
Figure 31.
Figure 32.
Figure 33.
Figure 34.
Figure 35.
Figure 36.
Figure 37.
Figure 38.
Figure 39.
Figure 40.

Figure 41.
Figure 42.

Figure 43.
Figure 44.
Figure 45.

Figure 46.

Table 1.

Table 2.
Table 3.
Table 4.

LIST OF FIGURES

Page
View of the south fagade of BUIldiNG TA. ... 29
View of the primary (west) fagade of Building 4. ... 30
Oblique view of the north and west fagades of Building 6.............ccooieiiiiiiii e 31
Oblique view of the west and south facades of Building 7. .........ccccooveeiiiiiiieeee e, 33
Oblique view of the south and east fagades of Building 9A. .........ccooe e, 33
Oblique view of the east and south fagades of Building 11...........ccccoeeiiiiiiiiee e, 34
View of the south fagade of BUIlding 12. ........cooiiiiiiiii e 36
View of the east fagade of BUIldiNg 26A. .........coooiiiiiiie et a e 36
View of the breezeway between Buildings 26A and B. ...........cccooveiiiiiiiiieee e 37
View of the second story corridor of Building 26D............ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e 37
View of the south fagade entrance of Building 26C. ............cccciiiiiiiiiiiiii e 38
Olique view of south and east fagades of Building 28A/B ... 40
Oblique view toward the west of the northeast and southeast facades of Building 47. .......... 41
Oblique view toward the south of the northwest and northeast facades of Building 48.......... 42
View of the south fagcade of BUilding F1. ..o 44
View of the west facade of BUilding F2A. ... 44
View of the west facade of BUilding F2B. ..o 45
Oblique view of the north and west fagades of Building F3A. ........ccccoooiiiiiieie e, 46
Oblique view of the north and west fagades of Building FAA. .........ccccoooiiiieeee e, 46
View of the west fagade of BUilding F5. ..o 47
Oblique view of the east and north fagades of Building FBA..........ccccooriiiiii e, 48
View of the east fagade of BUIldING F7. ... 49
View of the south fagade of BUildiNg G2. .........cooiiiiiiiiiii e 49
View of a dirt path and field within the Wildlife Sanctuary............ccccciiiiie 50
Detail of mosaic on east fagade of Building 1B/C. ..........cooiiiiiiiiiiii e 51
Primary (north fagade) of BUilding 3. .........oooiiiiiii e 52
View of the west fagade of BUilding 10..........oooiiiiiiiiiii e 52
Oblique of east and north fagades of Buildings 17, 18, 19.......cccooiiiiiiiiiie e, 53
Oblique view of the west and south fagades of Building 20. Building 18 is to the left
Lo ) I (A L= o] o] (o TP PEPRRST 53
View looking southeast of disturbed ground west of Stadium’s press box (50F).................... 54
Mt. SAC Historic District identifying contributing resources for comprehensively
surveyed campus, APFil 2016, ... oo e e e e neeeas 58
Historic aerial photograph of the Mt. SAC campus at the end of the period of
L]y Tor=T Lot TR 1 7SS 59
Current aerial photograph of the Mt. SAC CampPUS. .......oooiiiiiiiie e 60
Mt. SAC Historic District illustrating extant contributing resources, demolished
contributing resources, and new construction since 2003 establishment of historic
Lo 1= (g o AN o 4 1 024 0 K 1 TR PSPPSRt 61
Contributing resources to the Mt. SAC Historic District that could potentially be
impacted by the SEIR. ... e e e e e e e s e ae e e e e e e e aanes 66

LIST OF TABLES

Page
Previously Conducted Cultural Resource Projects within 1/2-Mile Radius of the
T 1 o o) (=T ox A Y- LSRR TS PRP 8
Previously Documented Resources within 1/2-Mile Radius of the SEIR Project Area. ............. 8
Contributing Resources to the Mt. SAC Historic District, November 2015 .............ccccceeeeee. 21
Contributing and Non-Contributing Resources to the Mt. SAC
Historic DistriCt, APril 2016% ........eiiii e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s areeaeeeeannes 62

CRER Mt. SAC SEIR for 2015 FMPU and PEP iif



Executive Summary

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This cultural resources report has been prepared in support of the Supplemental EIR (SEIR) for the Mount
San Antonio College (Mt. SAC) 2015 Facilities Master Plan Update (2015 FMPU) and Physical Education
Projects (PEP) (Project). The Project includes several construction and renovation projects for the Mt SAC
community college campus located at 1100 North Grand Avenue, in Walnut, California. The California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) applies to discretionary projects undertaken, approved, or funded by a
public agency. As such, the proposed 2015 FMPU and PEP are subject to CEQA. The Mt. San Antonio
Community College District is the “lead agency” under CEQA and is responsible for the 2015 FMPU and
PEP.

ASM Affiliates, Inc. (ASM), under contract to Mt. SAC, has prepared this report to evaluate whether the
proposed Project would impact any historic resources within the Project’s Area of Potential Effects (APE).
This assessment of impacts was conducted in compliance with CEQA and guided by the Secretary of the
Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties (SOI Standards). CEQA Guidelines Section
15064.5 define significant impacts as a substantial adverse change to a historic resource, encompassing
“demolition, destruction, relocation, or alteration such that the significance of an historical resource would
be impaired.”

The Mount San Antonio College Historic District (Mt. SAC Historic District) is located within the Project
APE. As such, the Project poses the potential to cause significant direct and/or indirect impacts to a CEQA
historic resource. The Project entails multiple construction projects, including demolition and
reconstruction of the Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H), demolition of Oden House (12A/B), expansion of
the Wildlife Sanctuary, and renovation of buildings 6, 9A, and 28A/B.

As a result of this cultural resources report, ASM surveyed 22 potentially new contributing resources to the
Mt. SAC Historic District. Twenty of those are recommended as eligible contributing resources (3CD) to
Mt. SAC Historic District. Ten buildings previously identified as eligible contributing resources were found
to have been demolished; one additional resource (12A/B) was found to have lost integrity and is now
recommended as a non-contributing resource. As the district retains approximately 75 percent of its eligible
contributing resources, ASM recommends that the Mt. SAC Historic District continues to be eligible for
the CRHR under Criterion 1, for the Theme of Education, with a period of significance of 1948-1972. ASM
also identified two individually eligible properties: Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H) eligible under Criterion
1, for the Themes of Education and Recreation, with a period of significance of 1948-1972; and the
Technology Center (28A/B) under Criterion 3, for the Theme of Architecture, with a period of significance
of 1971.

The Project will result in adverse direct and indirect visual impacts to the Mt. SAC Historic District, and to
the individually eligible Hilmer Lodge Stadium. ASM recommends Mt. SAC implement the mitigation
measures detailed in Chapter 7 to reduce the significant adverse impacts in accordance with CEQA.
However, those mitigation measures will not result in less than significant impacts, and the Project will
result in a substantial adverse change to a historic resource pursuant to CEQA Section 21084.1.

iv ASM Affiliates, Inc.



1. Introduction

1. INTRODUCTION

This report describes the goals, methods, and findings of the impacts analysis conducted by ASM Affiliates,
Inc. (ASM), for the Mount San Antonio College (Mt. SAC) 2015 Facilities Master Plan Update (2015
FMPU) and Physical Education Projects (PEP) (Project). The Project includes several construction and
renovation projects for the Mt SAC community college campus located at 1100 North Grand Avenue, in
Walnut, California. The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) applies to discretionary projects
undertaken, approved, or funded by a public agency. As such, the proposed 2015 FMPU and PEP are subject
to CEQA. The Mt. San Antonio Community College District is the “lead agency” under CEQA and is
responsible for the 2015 FMPU and PEP.

ASM Affiliates, Inc. (ASM), under contract to Mt. SAC, has prepared this report to evaluate whether the
proposed Project would impact any historic resources within the project’s Area of Potential Effects (APE).
This report provides an assessment and evaluation of direct and indirect impacts on those historic resources
as a result of the proposed Project. This report is divided into the following sections: Introduction,
Regulatory Framework, Historic Context, Identification of Historic Resources, Impacts Assessment, and
Conclusion. Several appendices are included, specifically: California Department of Parks and Recreation
(DPR) forms (Appendix A), records search (Appendix B), Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC)
and Tribal correspondence (Appendix C), original architectural drawings (Appendix D), and structural
description and assessment of the Stadium (Appendix E).

The Mount San Antonio College Historic District (Mt. SAC Historic District) is located within the APE,
and the project specifically has the potential to impact contributing resources to the district: the Hilmer
Lodge Stadium (50A-H), Oden House (12A/B), Wildlife Sanctuary, and buildings 6, 9A, and 28A/B. The
historic district and of its potential contributors are evaluated for their eligibility for designation on the
local, state, and national level as individual resources and potential contributors to a historic district, in
accordance with CEQA and California Register of Historical Resources (CRHR) guidelines. Section
21084.1 of CEQA defines a historical resource as any resource listed in, or eligible for listing in, the CRHR.
Mt. SAC Historic District has previously been evaluated and identified as a CEQA historical resource.

1.1 PROJECT LOCATION AND SETTING

The proposed Project is located in the City of Walnut, Los Angeles County, California. Walnut is located
approximately 20 miles (mi.) east of the City of Los Angeles within eastern Los Angeles County (Figures
1 and 2). The Mt. SAC campus occupies 421 acres at 1100 North Grand Avenue situated in a flat valley
between the Puente and San Jose hills in the San Gabriel Valley. Mount San Antonio is the dominant
landscape feature of the setting to the north. The Project is located on the campus of Mt. SAC owned by
the Mt. San Antonio Community College District. The direct APE constitutes those areas where specific
projects have been identified in the FMUP and PEP, and includes all areas of ground disturbance (Figure
3). The Mt. SAC Historic District is located within the APE and includes buildings proposed for demolition
and/or renovation. As such, the Project constitutes potential direct impacts to a CEQA historic resource.
The indirect APE is defined as the boundaries of the entire historic district to ensure consideration of
indirect impacts on all contributing resources of the historic district (see Figure 3). The Mt. SAC Historic
District contains buildings and structures constructed between 1946 and 1972 that are associated with the
theme of Education. The buildings were constructed in varying architectural styles such as Spanish Colonial
Revival, neo-Romanesque, and Mid-Century Modern. In between the buildings are concrete walkways and
landscaped courtyards of grass lawns, low-scale vegetation, and trees.

CRER Mt. SAC SEIR for 2015 FMPU and PEP 1



1. Introduction

Figure 1.  Project vicinity map.

2 ASM Affiliates, Inc.



1. Introduction

Figure 2.  Project location map on USGS topographic map.
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1. Introduction

Figure 3.  Project area map with Area of Potential Effect (direct and indirect) highlighted.
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1. Introduction

1.2 PROJECT DESCRIPTION

Mt. San Antonio Community College District has proposed a 2015 FMPU and the corresponding Land Use
Plan is shown as Figure 3. The major change from the 2012 FMP is the re-design of the athletic
facilities/Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H) south of Temple Avenue and east of Bonita Avenue. The existing
stadium will be demolished and a new stadium built at the same location. Other changes for the 2015 FMPU
include the demolition of the Oden House (12A/B), relocation of the Public Transportation Center to Lot
D3, an expanded Wildlife Sanctuary and Open Space area, and a pedestrian bridge across Temple Avenue
connecting the Physical Education Complex to Lot F. The net increase in square footage at 2015 FMPU
buildout is approximately 500,000 gross square feet. Special annual events will continue to be held on
campus that include the Mt. SAC/Brooks Relays and the Mt. SAC Cross-Country Invitational (XC Invite).
The District is also filing an application to host the eight-day 2020 Olympic Track & Field Trials in late
July or August 2020.

1.3 METHODOLOGY

ASM reviewed previous documentation and architectural drawings of the buildings and landscapes that
required survey and evaluation for this report. Previous documentation included the Historic Resources on
the Campus of Mt. San Antonio College report by Tim Gregory (Gregory 2003). In 2012, ASM prepared a
letter report, Historic Resources Analysis for Five Buildings at Mount San Antonio College, in which the
following buildings were evaluated: Student Life Center (9C), Marie T. Mills Aquatic Facility (Aquatic
Facility) (27B), Locker Rooms (formerly the Women’s Locker Facilities) (27C), Exercise
Science/Wellness Center (formerly the Men’s Locker Facilities) (27A), and Mount San Antonio College
Snack Bar (19C) (Davis 2012). In this report, ASM utilized the 2003 Gregory report to define district
boundaries and identify district contributors. The result was a list of contributors that included 24 buildings;
however, by 2012 only 16 were extant. Since 2012, two more buildings have been demolished, resulting in
14 documented contributors that remained as of November 2015.

ASM performed an on-site survey of the Project APE overall a period of several days (November 17, 2015,
and January 21 and March 11-25, 2016). The intensive level survey included the extant 14 contributing
resources to the Mt. SAC Historic District (with a focus on those proposed for demolition: Oden House and
the Stadium). Previous evaluation of the historic district did not include all buildings and structures that
could be contributing resources to the historic district that were constructed or utilized by the college during
the district’s period of significance (1946-1972). As such, this survey included all potential contributors to
the historic district that have not previously been documented or evaluated: the Art Center (1A),
Administration (4), Library (6), Science South (7), Bookstore (9A), Science North (11), Counseling Support
(12), Humanities North/East/South (26A/B/D), Planetarium (26C), Technology Center (28A/B),
Maintenance/Facilities (47), Receiving/Transport (48), Horticulture Unit (F1), Farm Offices (F2A),
Horticulture Storage (F2B), Old Dairy Unit (F3A), Swine Market Pens (F4A), Vivarium (F5), Breeding
Barn (F6A), Equipment Tech Unit (F7), Greenhouse (G2), and the Wildlife Sanctuary. Twenty-two new
potential contributing resources were documented during the survey; the 14 previously determined
contributing resources were also documented to determine if they are still eligible as contributing resources
and/or individually eligible historic resources. During the site visits, all of the resources were photographed
and detailed field notes were recorded.

An intensive pedestrian archaeological survey was also conducted, encompassing all accessible areas of the
Project APE where ground disturbance is proposed. All visible ground surface was surveyed.

As part of the current study, ASM reviewed archival documents located in Mt. SAC library “Vault” specific
to the history of the buildings and landscapes surveyed. Documents reviewed included newspaper and
memorabilia scrapbooks, yearbooks, college newspapers, and coursebooks (Scrapbook 2016). ASM also

CRER Mt. SAC SEIR for 2015 FMPU and PEP 7



1. Introduction

reviewed historic aerial photographs to confirm construction dates of the buildings surveyed, as well as
recent demolition projects (historicaerials.com 1948, 1953, 2003, 2004, 2012).

1.4 RECORDS SEARCH RESULTS

An archival records search was conducted by personnel of the South Central Coastal Information Center
(SCCIC), located at California State University, Fullerton. The records search included a 1/2-mi. radius
around the Project area (Appendix B).

As a result of this records search, it was determined that nine cultural resource inventories and/or research
projects have occurred within a 1/2-mi. radius of the Project (Table 1). These have resulted in the
documentation of a single resource within that radius, which is the college itself (Table 2). No reports were
found at the SCCIC that directly address the Project area. However, reports that previously addressed
eligibility of the Mt. SAC Historic District (Gregory 2003; Davis 2012) were consulted for this study and
supplied by Mt. SAC.

Table 1.  Previously Conducted Cultural Resource Projects within 1/2-Mile Radius of
the SEIR Project Area

NADB
Number Author(s) Date Report Title
Report of the Archaeological Survey of Five Possible Steel Tank
LA-00342 Taylor, Thomas T. 1978 |Reservoir Sites and Pipe Routes for the Walnut Valley Water
District
. Archaeological Survey Report: a Parcel Located in the City of
LA-00481 Van Homn, David M. 1979 Walnut in tgtlwe County)(,:of Lops Angeles, California /
LA-01268 Mason, Roger D., and 1983 Archaeological Survey Repor.t and Records Search on Proposed
Nancy Whitney-Desautels Revised Tract 32158 in the City of Walnut, Los Angeles County, Ca
Archaeological Assessment Report for Proposed Sanitary Landfill
LA-01346 Brock, James P. 1984 | Expansion Adjacent to the Spadra Landfill Los Angeles County
(140 +/- Total Acres)
LA-02679 Cottrell, Marie G. 1979 Focused Draft Environmental Impact Report for Via Verde

Development Company Residential Development Tentative Tract

Records Search and an Archaeological Survey for the 400 Acre
LA-03835 Cottrell, Marie G. 1979 [Parcel Designated South Ranch, City of Walnut, Los Angeles
County, California

Cultural Resource Assessment: Cingular Wireless Facility No. Vy

LA-05644 Duke, Curt 2002 130-02 Los Angeles County, California

Cultural Resource Assessment: Cingular Wireless Facility No. Vy-
LA-05646 Duke, Curt 2001 130-01 Los Angeles County, California
LA-06262 Duke, Curt 2002 Cultural Resource Assessment Cingular Wireless Facility No. Vy

130-04 Los Angeles County, California

Table 2.  Previously Documented Resources within 1/2-Mile Radius of the SEIR Project Area

Construction
Primary # Site Type Description Date California Status Code

HP15 (Educational Mt San Antonio

building); HP41 .

. College 1946 581
(Hospital); HP42 1100 N. Grand Ave.
(Stadium/sports arena)

P-19-186869

*In 2003, the California Status Code for 5S1 was defined as “Not eligible for the National Register, but of local interest and eligible for
listing in a local historic resources survey.” The California status codes have since been re-categorized. As of 2016, this definition is
listed under the code “56S3.”

8 ASM Affiliates, Inc.



1. Introduction

1.5 NATIVE AMERICAN HERITAGE COMMISSION

ASM submitted a request to the California Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) for a search of
their Sacred Lands File (SLF) to inquire if they have registered any cultural resources, traditional cultural
properties, or areas of heritage sensitivity within the proposed Project APE. A response was provided by
the NAHC on February 10, 2016, stating that the SLF search failed to indicate the presence of Native
American traditional cultural places/sites in the Project area. However, the NAHC also stresses that the
absence of specific site information in the SLF does not indicate the absence of Native American cultural
resources in any APE. The NAHC also provided a list of nine Native American Tribes and individuals to
contact for more information. ASM sent letters to each of the contacts provided by the NAHC to solicit
their input regarding any information or concerns that they may have about the proposed Project. To date,
two tribal representatives have responded. One requested additional information regarding the ground-
disturbing impacts of the proposed construction activities. Both felt that the Project area should be treated
as sensitive and request the presence of Native American monitors during construction-related ground-
disturbance. All related correspondence received to date is provided in Appendix C; responses received
after the finalization of this report will be forwarded to the lead agency.

1.6 PROJECT PERSONNEL

ASM Senior Architectural Historian, Shannon Davis, M.A., was the Project Manager and team leader
conducting the field survey, archival research, and impacts analysis. Ms. Davis exceeds the professional
qualification standards for Architectural Historian and Historian as identified in the Secretary of the
Interior’s Standards for Archeology and Historic Preservation (36 CFR 61). As an Architectural Historian
at ASM, Ms. Davis has documented and evaluated numerous cultural resources for California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA)
compliance, impacts/effects analysis, Historic Structures Reports (HSRs), Historic American Building
Survey (HABS), and NRHP nominations. Ms. Davis additionally has past professional experience with the
cultural resources programs of the National Park Service (NPS) including eight years as an Historian with
the NRHP.

ASM Senior Archacologist, Sherri Andrews, M.A., RPA, conducted the archaeological survey. Ms.
Andrews exceeds the professional qualification standards for Archaecology as identified in the Secretary of
the Interior’s Standards for Archeology and Historic Preservation (36 CFR 61). As an Archaeologist at
ASM, Ms. Andrews has served as Principal Investigator, Co-Principal Investigator, and Field Director. Ms.
Andrews has experience in all aspects of project management, ranging from records searches and fieldwork
to report writing and preparation. She also has experience in laboratory management, including artifact
analysis, cataloging and curation, and has served as laboratory director for three university-run field
schools, including the San Clemente Island Eel Point field school run by California State University,
Northridge, and the San Elijo Lagoon project run by ASM and University of California, San Diego.
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2. REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

2.1 CALIFORNIA REGISTER OF HISTORICAL RESOURCES

The CRHR program encourages public recognition and protection of resources of architectural, historical,
archaeological, and cultural significance; identifies historical resources for state and local planning
purposes; determines eligibility for state historic preservation grant funding; and affords certain protections
under CEQA. The criteria established for eligibility for the CRHR are directly comparable to the national
criteria established for the NRHP.

In order to be eligible for listing in the CRHR, a resource must satisfy at least one of the following four
criteria:

1. It is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns
of local or regional history or the cultural heritage of California or the United States.

2. Itis associated with the lives of persons important to local, California, or national history.

3. It embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of
construction, or represents the work of a master or possesses high artistic values.

4. It has yielded, or has the potential to yield, information important to the prehistory or
history of the local area, California, or the nation.

Archaeologists assess sites based on all four of the above criteria but usually focus on the fourth criterion
provided above. Historical resources eligible for listing in the CRHR must also retain enough of their
historic character or appearance to be recognizable as historical resources and to convey the reasons for
their significance. For the purposes of eligibility for the CRHR, integrity is defined as “the authenticity of
an historical resource’s physical identity evidenced by the survival of characteristics that existed during the
resource’s period of significance” (California Office of Historic Preservation 2001). This general definition
is generally strengthened by the more specific definition offered by the NRHP—the criteria and guidelines
upon which the CRHR criteria and guidelines are based.

2.1.1 Integrity

In order to be eligible for listing in the CRHR, a property must retain sufficient integrity to convey its
significance. The NRHP publication How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation, National
Register Bulletin 15, establishes how to evaluate the integrity of a property: “Integrity is the ability of a
property to convey its significance” (National Park Service, National Register of Historic Places 1998). The
evaluation of integrity must be grounded in an understanding of a property’s physical features, and how
they relate to the concept of integrity. Determining which of these aspects are most important to a property
requires knowing why, where, and when a property is significant. To retain historic integrity, a property
must possess several, and usually most, aspects of integrity:

1. Location is the place where the historic property was constructed or the place where the
historic event occurred.

2. Design is the combination of elements that create the form, plan, space, structure, and style
of a property.

3. Setting is the physical environment of a historic property, and refers to the character of the
site and the relationship to surrounding features and open space. Setting often refers to the
basic physical conditions under which a property was built and the functions it was
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intended to serve. These features can be either natural or manmade, including vegetation,
paths, fences, and relationships between other features or open space.

4. Materials are the physical elements that were combined or deposited during a particular
period or time, and in a particular pattern or configuration to form a historic property.

5. Workmanship is the physical evidence of crafts of a particular culture or people during
any given period of history or prehistory, and can be applied to the property as a whole, or
to individual components.

6. Feeling is a property’s expression of the aesthetic or historic sense of a particular period
of time. It results from the presence of physical features that, when taken together, convey
the property’s historic character.

7. Association is the direct link between the important historic event or person and a historic
property.

2.2 CEQA HISTORIC RESOURCES

CEQA Guidelines 15064.5 Determining the Significance of Impacts to Archeological and Historical
Resources requires that all private and public activities not specifically exempted be evaluated for potential
environmental impacts, including impacts to historical resources. CEQA (PRC Section 21084.1) states that
significant impacts may occur if a project “may cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an
historic resource.” CEQA defines historical resources as “any object, building, structure, site, area, place,
record, or manuscript which a lead agency determines to be historically significant or significant in the
architectural, engineering, scientific, economic, agricultural, educational, social, political, military, or
cultural annals of California.”

Lead agencies have a responsibility to evaluate a Project’s impacts to historical resources (including
archaeological resources) and to determine whether those impacts are significant. Mitigation of significant
impacts is required if the proposed Project will cause substantial adverse change to a historical resource.
Substantial adverse change includes ‘“demolition, destruction, relocation, or alteration such that the
significance of an historical resource would be impaired.” While demolition and destruction are fairly
obvious significant impacts, it is more difficult to assess when change, alteration, or relocation crosses the
threshold of substantial adverse change. The CEQA Guidelines provide that a Project that demolishes or
alters those physical characteristics of an historical resource that convey its historical significance (i.e., its
character-defining features) can be considered to materially impair the resource’s significance.

For purposes of CEQA, a “historical resource” is a resource listed in or eligible for listing in the CRHR.
The CRHR includes resources listed in, or formally determined eligible for listing in, the NRHP, as well as
some California State Landmarks and Points of Historical Interest. Properties of local significance that have
been designated under a local preservation ordinance (local landmarks or landmark districts), or that have
been identified in a local historical resources inventory, may be eligible for listing in the CRHR and are
presumed to be historic resources for purposes of CEQA unless a preponderance of evidence indicates
otherwise.

Generally, a resource shall be considered by the lead agency to be a “historical resource” if it:

1. Islisted in, or determined to be eligible by the State Historical Resources Commission, for
listing in the CRHR (PRC Section 5024.1, Title 14 CCR, Section 4850 et seq.).

2. Is included in a local register of historical resources, or is identified as significant in an
historical resource survey meeting the requirements of Section 5024.1(g) of the PRC.
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3. Is a building or structure determined to be historically significant or significant in the
architectural, engineering, scientific, economic, agricultural, educational, social, political,
military, or cultural annals of California. Generally, a resource is considered “historically
significant” if it meets the criteria for listing in the CRHR.

CEQA also requires the lead agency to consider whether a project would have a significant effect on unique
archaeological resources, and to avoid these resources when feasible or mitigate any effects to less-than-
significant levels (PRC Section 21083.2 and Section 21084.1). These are defined as an archaeological
artifact, object, or site about which it can be clearly demonstrated that, without merely adding to the current
body of knowledge, there is a high probability of meeting any of the following criteria:

e Contains information needed to answer important scientific research questions and that
there is a demonstrable public interest in that information;

e Has a special and particular quality such as being the oldest of its type or the best available
example of its type; or

e Isdirectly associated with a scientifically recognized important prehistoric or historic event
or person [PRC Section 21083.2(g)].

No further consideration need be given to a non-unique archaeological resource, “other than the simple
recording of its existence by the lead agency if it so elects” (PRC Section 21083.2(h)).

2.3 SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS

The SOI Standards were codified in 1995 (36 CFR 68) to establish professional standards that apply to all
proposed development grant-in-aid projects assisted through the National Historic Preservation Fund and
serve as general guidance for work on any other historic building (Weeks et al. 2001). The Standards apply
to historic properties of all periods, styles, types, materials, and sizes. The Standards also encompass related
landscape features, the site, and environment as well as attached, adjacent, or related new construction. The
SOI Standards for Rehabilitation are the appropriate approach to apply to this project, and are identified
below (Weeks et al. 2001).

1) A property will be used as it was historically or be given a new use that requires minimal
change to its distinctive materials, features, spaces, and spatial relationships.

2) The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of
distinctive materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that
characterize a property will be avoided.

3) Each property will be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use. Changes
that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or
elements from other historic properties, will not be undertaken.

4) Changes to a property that have acquired historic significance in their own right will be
retained and preserved.

5) Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of
craftsmanship that characterize a property will be preserved.

6) Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the
old in design, color, texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing
features will be substantiated by documentary and physical evidence.

7) Chemical or physical treatments, if appropriate, will be undertaken using the gentlest
means possible. Treatments that cause damage to historic materials will not be used.

8) Archeological resources will be protected and preserved in place. If such resources must
be disturbed, mitigation measures will be undertaken.
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9) New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction will not destroy historic
materials, features, and spatial relationships that characterize the property. The new work
will be differentiated from the old and will be compatible with the historic materials,
features, size, scale and proportion, and massing to protect the integrity of the property and
its environment.

10) New additions and adjacent or related new construction will be undertaken in such a
manner that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic
property and its environment would be unimpaired.

Weeks et al. (2001) references new construction within historic districts as part of the guidelines for
“Setting.” The section pertaining to “Alterations/Additions for the New Use” were considered in the
analysis of direct impacts. Below are the “recommended” and “not recommended” treatments applicable to
the project.

Recommended

e Designing and constructing new additions to historic buildings when required by the new use. New
work should be compatible with the historic character of the setting in terms of size, scale design,
material, color, and texture.

Not Recommended
e Introducing new construction into historic districts that is visually incompatible or that destroys
historic relationships within the setting.

24 CRITERIA FOR ASSESSING VISUAL IMPACTS

Because there is no universally accepted yardstick for measuring visual impacts, and because those impacts
do not always damage the defining characteristics of an historic property in any physical manner, assessing
them can be difficult and complicated. If we are to consider that an historic property is affected when its
historic significance and integrity have been diminished, determining how a Project harms a resource’s
historical significance and integrity is essential to any assessment. In assessing the indirect impacts for
historic resources, the criteria for significance and the aspects of integrity are factors that require careful
evaluation and can provide a defensible qualitative method for determining visual impacts on historic
resources.

To ensure a thorough and complete analysis of visual impacts, ASM augmented the nationally recognized
guidance of Section 106 (36 CFR 800) regulations of the NHPA and SOI Standards with more specific
guidance that has been developed by two state agencies—the Delaware State Historic Preservation Office
(Delaware SHPO 2003) and the Wyoming Bureau of Land Management and Wyoming State Historic
Preservation Office (Wyoming BLM 2006).

2.4.1 Definitions

For purposes of this analysis, the following definitions have been employed:

Historic Property or Historic Resource: a historic site, district, building, structure, or object that is either
eligible for inclusion in the NRHP, or listed therein.

Adverse Visual Impact: an impact that negatively affects the integrity of the setting or feeling of an historic
property, to the extent that significance and eligibility for listing in the NRHP are compromised. In
particular, adverse visual impacts can be seen as negatively affecting the following characteristics of
integrity: setting, feeling, or association.
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Obstructive Visual Impacts: any visual impact that carries the potential to obstruct any part of the view
of an historic property, or the scenic view from such a resource. Adverse obtrusive impacts can obstruct all
or a portion of an historic property and/or its viewshed, in turn negatively affecting the property’s historic
character.

Scenic Views: any scenic resources or resources that are visually and aesthetically important and that
contribute to an historic property’s significance.

Viewsheds: those areas visible from a specified location or locations.

Visual Impacts: any aspect of a proposed undertaking that will be seen from or will be in the view of an
historic property. A visual impact may be beneficial or adverse and may affect the historic property in an
aesthetic or obstructive manner. The determination that a visual impact exists does not automatically imply
that the impact is adverse.

2.4.2 Adverse Visual Impacts

Adverse visual impacts may be created when an undertaking is visible within the viewshed of the historic
property, when it blocks a view toward the historic property, or when it introduces an element that is
incompatible with the criteria under which the property is eligible.

Simply because an undertaking will be visible from an historic property does not mean it automatically will
create an adverse visual impact. Therefore, it is necessary to evaluate the visual changes and alterations the
undertaking will introduce to the resource. In assessing adverse visual impacts on a historic property, it is
necessary to identify the criterion or criteria under which the resource is eligible and what qualities or
characteristics of the resource contribute to its significance or eligibility. For example, if a resource is
eligible for its innovative engineering qualities, visual impacts on the property may not be adverse, whereas
if the property is eligible on the basis of its architectural significance, an adverse impact very well may be
created.

An adverse visual impact may be obstructive, which is to say it may block the view to or from an historic
property; it may also not be obstructive and still create an adverse visual impact in that it introduces
elements so incompatible with the criterion or criteria under which the property is eligible for listing that it
diminishes the property’s significance to a substantial degree. For example, a highway proposed to run
alongside an historic rural church, while it would not directly obstruct the view to or from the building,
might still introduce an element so incompatible with the rural setting of the property that it would have a
diminishing impact upon the integrity of the property’s setting.

Adverse visual impacts should be determined on a case-by-case basis, weighing the following factors:

* Significance. An historic built-environment resource’s historical significance and its key
aspects of integrity must be taken into account in order to evaluate the Project’s impacts
on the property’s eligibility for listing in the NRHP.

* Character-Defining Features. The alteration of character-defining features at the Project
location (including open space) can affect the view from the historic built-environment
resource and possibly the location, feeling, setting, and association of that resource.

e Compatibility. Whether in an open space or a developed area, the compatibility of the
Project with the character of the Project’s location and surrounding area, including historic
resources, is important. The character of the historic property’s site and architectural
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features should be the basis for determining the appropriate characteristics of the proposed
Project. The compatibility of the Project is determined by:

= Mass—the arrangement of the Project’s spaces;

= Scale and proportion—the size and the proportion of the Project to the surrounding
structures and features;

= Height—sometimes it may be necessary that a Project height extend beyond that of the
surrounding buildings and other features within view of the Project; it is important that
the height of the Project not cause the line of sight to move so far up that the
surrounding features are out of view, thereby detracting from the original view;

=  Shadows;

=  (Color;

* The degree to which the Project would contribute to the area’s aesthetic value;

= The degree of contrast, or lack thereof, between the Project and the background,
surrounding scenery, or neighborhood; and

= The amount of open space.

2.4.3 Obstructive Impacts

Whether a Project is on or near an historic property, it can block the resource from being viewed, or block
a view seen from that resource, thereby possibly diminishing its integrity. Determination of adverse
obstructive impacts should be made on a case-by-case basis, considering the following factors:

e The historic property’s significance. It is necessary to understand the resource’s historic
significance and its key aspects of integrity in order to evaluate the Project’s impacts on
the resource’s eligibility for listing in the NRHP.

e Nature and quality of the view from the historic property. This includes such features as
natural topography, settings, man-made or natural features of visual interest, and other
historic property seen from the historic built-environment resource, any of which would
contribute to its significance and integrity.

e Extent of obstruction. This includes total blockage, partial interruption, or interference with
a person’s enjoyment and appreciation of a scenic view or historic property viewed from
the historic property, to the extent it affects the integrity of the historic property.

e Obstruction of an historic property. The Project might obstruct the historic property from
being viewed from the Project site or other area. If the historic property is visually
appreciated from surrounding viewpoints, obstructing its view may affect its feeling,
setting, location, or association.
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3. HISTORIC CONTEXT

3.1 BRIEF HISTORY OF THE SAN GABRIEL VALLEY AND
WALNUT, CALIFORNIA

The first occupants of the San Gabriel Valley were the Gabrielino Indians of Shoshonean origin. After the
arrival of the Spanish in the late 1700s, large ranches, extensive agricultural development occurred and
residences were constructed. The first land grants included the Rancho de San Jose, established in 1837 by
Don Ricardo Vejar and Don Ygnacio Palomares; the Rancho de los Nogales, presented in 1840 to Jose de
la Cruz Linares; and La Puente Rancho, issued to John Rowland and William Workman in 1842. Prior to
the establishment of these land grants, the land had been used for cattle and sheep grazing by the San Gabriel
Mission (Gregory 2003).

Walnut originally obtained its name from Rancho de los Nogales (rnogal is the Spanish word for “walnut
tree”), the land the city came to occupy. The Rancho obtained its name from the black walnut trees located
along the hillsides. The name of the town was originally Lemon, due to the many citrus trees in the area
and the name of the town’s station (Lemon Station) for the Southern Pacific Railroad. The name “Walnut”
was adopted as the community’s official name in 1912 with the construction of the new post office (Gregory
2003).

From the 1880s to just after World War 11, the area was used predominantly for cattle-raising and farming,
well-known particularly for its walnut and citrus groves. Walnut as well as the surrounding communities
remained primarily rural, Pomona being the only major city (Gregory 2003).

After World War II, returning veterans created an increasing demand for housing across southern
California, including the city of Walnut. The small rural town developed quickly and, fearing that they
might be annexed by their faster-growing neighbors, the residents of Walnut decided to incorporate with
approximately 7.5 mi.? of territory and about 1,000 residents in January 1959 (Gregory 2003).

Between 1980 and 1990, Walnut grew by 133 percent, to a population of 29,105, and became the second-
fastest-growing city in Los Angeles County (Gregory 2003). Today, Walnut has a population of 29,661.
Four elementary schools, three middle schools, two high schools, and Mt. SAC are located within the city
boundaries (City of Walnut 2012).

3.2 EARLY EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES IN WALNUT AND
SAN GABRIEL VALLEY

Walnut’s first school was constructed ca. 1876. After the schoolhouse burned in 1892, students transferred
to Spadra School. The Lemon School District, of which Walnut was a part, was established in 1893. High
school students traveled to Pomona and El Monte until 1915, when La Puente High School was constructed
(Gregory 2003).

When the first junior colleges were established in California at the beginning of the twentieth century, most
(two-thirds) were begun either on high school campuses or as parts of high school districts. Citrus College,
located in Glendora and founded in 1915, is the oldest junior college in Los Angeles County and the fifth
oldest in the state. One of the first junior colleges in the San Gabriel Valley was Pomona Junior College,
planned in 1916 and established on the Pomona High School campus in 1917. Oscar H. Edinger was the
director of the college (Hall and Pietzsch 1996). Chaffey, located in Rancho Cucamonga, was first
established as a private college in 1883 and became public in 1916. Pasadena City College was established
in 1924, and Glendale Community College was founded in 1927.
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With the return of young men and women after World War 11, the San Gabriel Valley, along with much of
the state, increasingly recognized the limitations of having colleges set on high school campuses, and
pushed for the establishment of junior colleges independent from high schools. Pomona Junior College was
seen as inadequate to accommodate the many veterans seeking higher education. Thus, in October 1945,
the California State Board of Education was petitioned by the school districts of Pomona, Covina, Puente,
and Bonita for a junior college to serve the combined communities (Pomona, La Verne, San Dimas, Covina,
Baldwin Park, West Covina, Puente, Otterbein, Walnut, and Spadra). Edgar Rothrock, chairman of the
Board of Trustees for Bonita High School, and Carl L. Lorbeer, president of the Pomona Board of
Education, were particularly influential in encouraging community members to support the creation of the
college. In his 1945 statement as candidate to be president of the Pomona Board of Education, Mr. Lorbeer
advocated for “the formation of a junior college not only for general relief of the school system but to
separate the high school and junior college activities. It would be my intention, if elected, to immediately
have a representative committee appointed to make a thorough study of the entire junior college situation”
(Mt. SACourier 1966). Voters approved the formation of a new college by a 7-to-1 vote margin, and the
first Board of Trustees was formed (Hall and Pietzsch 1996). The new college was to replace Pomona Junior
College, and Mt. SAC became one of the first junior colleges to be established as independent from a high
school campus at the time of its foundation.

A few different locations were considered for the new college, including Kellogg Ranch in Pomona, the
Voorhis School in San Dimas, and the Naval Hospital located in Walnut. The Naval Hospital was eventually
chosen as the location for the school, as it was considered an ideal location at the center of the proposed
college district. The Kellogg Ranch and the Voorhis School were soon after acquired by California
Polytechnic School for their southern California branch (Cal Poly Pomona 2012; Hall and Pietzsch 1996).

3.3 MT. SAC PROPERTY HISTORY

In 1920, the State of California purchased lots 6 and 7 of the C. M. Wright Tract on the eastern edge of the
original La Puente Rancho, consisting of 800 acres. The land had previously been owned by the Stern
Realty Company since 1914. Lot 7 was transferred to the Regents of the University of California and later
became the site of the California Polytechnic University, Pomona Campus. Lot 6, the location of the current
Mt. SAC, was used to establish the Pacific Colony, an institution for the insane, founded in 1921. The
Pacific Colony only operated briefly at this location, as it closed in 1923 due to an inadequate water supply,
later reopening in 1927 on Pomona Boulevard (Gregory 2003).

In the early 1930s, lot 6 was occupied by the State Narcotic Hospital, and during World War II, the United
States Government leased the property for a U.S. Army Hospital and later a U.S. Naval Hospital. In
February 1945, the Pomona Chamber of Commerce requested the state to make the hospital site (which
was scheduled to close in 1946) the temporary location for a new junior college which eventually became
Mt. SAC (Gregory 2003).

The first staff of the new junior college included several members of surrounding educational facilities: Dr.
George H. Bell, superintendent of education for Bonita High School District, became president; Oscar H.
Edinger, former director of Pomona Junior College, became director of instruction; Ernest W. Carl, an
officer in the Navy, became director of business; and Marie T. Mills, physical education teacher for Covina
High School, became dean of women. Additionally, a small group of support staff and 23 faculty members
were selected (Hall and Pietzsch 1996).

The new staff and faculty were faced with the almost impossible task of preparing the buildings of the old
Naval Hospital for college classes in only a matter of months. (The property was authorized in July 1946,
and the college was to open in September that same year.) Community members as well as prospective
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students contributed countless hours as well as small sums of money to prepare the campus for opening day
(Hall and Pietzsch 1996).

The temporary name for the college was the East Los Angeles County Junior College. A contest was held
to choose the official name for the college, resulting in its official name being changed to Mt. SAC, named
after the most visible snow-capped mountain north of the college (Hall and Pietzsch 1996).

When Mt. SAC opened in 1946, nine permanent buildings and 99 temporary barrack buildings from the
site’s previous uses were utilized as classrooms and faculty housing. A two-story building used by the
director of the hospital became the home of President Bell and his family (Hall and Pietzsch 1996).

When registration began in August 1946, the college advertised seven divisions and 12 departments,
including art, commerce, English and speech arts, foreign languages, homemaking, math and engineering,
music, physical education and hygiene, science, social sciences, vocational agriculture, and trades and
industries. There were 682 students the first year. Over half the students were veterans, and the average age
was 25 (Hall and Pietzsch 1996).

In March 1947, the college Advisory Committee requested a $1,750,000 bond to aid in the construction of
new classrooms and service buildings. The bond issue received an overwhelming approval ratio of 11 to 1.
On June 14, 1947, the day of the first commencement, Governor Earl Warren approved Assembly Bill 1904
to allow the college to acquire the former hospital site as their permanent home (Hall and Pietzsch 1996).
The first campus master plan, known as Building Plan “M”, was designed by President Bell and Pasadena
architect Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr. The first buildings designed and approved were the stadium, field
houses, shops, gymnasium, and library (Hall and Pietzsch 1996).

Enrollment continued to increase and the college grew, with construction of new buildings ongoing until
the early 1970s, when the development of the college was complete and its growth reached a plateau. With
a Walnut city population increase of 133 percent between 1980 and 1990, the college experienced a new
period of growth and construction, and become one of the largest community colleges in the state; additional
buildings were added to the campus in the 1990s and early 2000s. Today, Mt. SAC is the largest of six
community colleges located in the San Gabriel Valley (including Glendale Community College, Chaffey
College, Pasadena City College, Citrus College, and Rio Hondo College), and one of the largest of
California’s 112 junior colleges. The college serves approximately 20 communities and one million
residents in the San Gabriel Valley, and offers more than 200 degree and certificate programs. More than
35,000 students are currently enrolled for credit at the junior college (Mt. San Antonio College 2012).

3.3.1 Mount San Antonio Athletic Facilities

From the time the college was established, physical education and athletics have been an integral part of
campus life. Two of the first buildings constructed for the college were the stadium and the gymnasium,
further exemplifying the campus’s commitment to athletic activities. Sports quickly drew attention from
the students as well as the community. When the college opened, Archie Nisbet was the only full-time
instructor for physical education; however, several faculty members, including Marie T. Mills, assisted in
teaching physical education and coaching various sporting activities (Hall and Pietzsch 1996).

During the 1950s and 1960s, major changes occurred in the physical education arena, as interest in and
participation in physical education grew tremendously. Women in particular were deeply affected by this
change in outlook, and they began to play a much more active role in physical activity. Campus programs
began to reflect these changes in attitudes, and in 1971, Linda Garrison started the community fitness
program (Hall and Pietzsch 1996).
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4. IDENTIFICATION OF HISTORIC RESOURCES

41 ARCHITECTURAL HISTORY SURVEY

During the field survey of the APE, ASM identified the previously documented Mt. SAC Historic District,
as well as an additional 20 buildings that were never before documented.

4.1.1 Mt. SAC Historic District

As of November 2015, the Mt. SAC Historic District contained 14 contributing resources (Davis 2012;
Gregory 2003). Table 3 and Figure 4 illustrate those buildings that have been previously identified as
contributors to the historic district. Of the 24 buildings previously identified within the historic district, 8
have been demolished between 2003 and 2012, and two from 2012 to November 2015 for a total loss of 10
contributing resources (FMPU 213).

Table 3.  Contributing Resources to the Mt. SAC Historic District, November 2015

Building Number Building Name Current Status
1B/C Art Center/Gallery Extant
3 Gym Extant
5/5A Information Educational Technology Demolished (Sept. 2009)
8 Campus Café Demolished (Nov. 2015)
9C Student Life Center Extant
10 Founder’s Hall Extant
12A/B Oden House Extant
13 Design Technology Demolished (Sept. 2009)
14N Biology Demolished (Sept. 2009)
148 History/Geography/Political Science Demolished (Sept. 2009)
15 Modern Languages Demolished (Sept. 2009)
16 Building 16 Demolished (Dec. 2013)
17 Building 17 Extant
18 Building 18 Extant
19A Building 19A Extant
19B Building 19B Extant
20 Building 20 Extant
21 Building 21 Demolished (Feb. 2013)
22 Welding Demolished (20077?)
27A Exercise Science/Wellness Center Extant
27B Pool Extant
27C Physical Education Center Extant
F-9 Livestock Pavilion Demolished (20037?)
50A-H Stadium Extant
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Figure 4. Mt. SAC Historic District identifying contributing resources and demolished contributors, as of November 2015.
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The district was previously recommended as eligible for the CRHR under Criterion 1 at the local level,
under the theme of Education, for its association with the development of Walnut, California, and its
surrounding communities. The college served 10 different communities and thousands of residents and is
today the largest community college in the San Gabriel Valley and one of the largest in California. Mt. SAC
was one of the first junior colleges in California and the San Gabriel Valley to be established as independent
from a high school campus. The period of significance for the district is 1946-1972, reflecting the date the
present site of the college became its permanent residence, its early years of development and growth, and
ending with the construction of the last major campus facility (the Marie T. Mills Aquatic Facility) to be
built until the 1990s, before the growth of the college plateaued (only two buildings being constructed
between 1972 and 1990). The college was built to accommodate the increased need for an independent
community college (not located on a high school campus) in the area after World War I, and became one
of the largest and most significant junior colleges in the San Gabriel Valley. Mt. SAC is the largest of six
junior colleges in the San Gabriel Valley, with more than 35,000 students enrolled. The Student Life Center,
Aquatic Facility, Women’s Locker Facilities, and the Exercise Science/Wellness Center each reflect the
college’s long-standing efforts to foster student participation in extracurricular and recreational activities
during the first 25 years of its establishment. Each building/structure contributes to the educational theme
of the historic district and was built during the period of significance. Additionally, the resources maintain
good integrity in all seven aspects.

The historic district was not recommended as eligible under CRHR Criterion 2, as the campus is not
associated with anyone of great historical significance to the area. The district was also recommended as
not eligible under CRHR Ceriterion 3. Although both Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr., the architect and planner
for the college between 1947 and 1953, and Austin, Field & Fry Architects, the designers of several of the
college’s buildings including the five herein evaluated, were prominent architects in Los Angeles County,
their works were not substantial enough for them to be considered master architects. Additionally, the
campus does not embody distinctive characteristics of a type, period or method of construction that would
distinguish the district as eligible architecturally.

The district was not recommended as eligible under CRHR Criterion 4. It is a common property type in that
it does not have the potential to provide information about history or prehistory that is not available through
historic research.

4.1.2 Hilmer Lodge Stadium (Buildings 50A-H)

In 1947, the Mt. SAC administration began to plan a new football stadium to be constructed southeast of
the campus as part of the larger master plan for the campus. The location was chosen based on the flatness
of the terrain situated between two hills, which reduced construction costs (Scrapbook 2016). It was
designed by Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr. and was finished in 1948 (Figures 5-10). The builder was the West-
Douglas Company, a firm from Los Angeles.

In October of 1948, the stadium was dedicated “To Those Who Served Their Country.” Then-State
representative Richard M. Nixon was presiding speaker (Gregory 2003; Scrapbook 2016). The stadium was
later renamed the Hilmer Lodge Stadium after the college’s first track coach, Hilmer Lodge. He is known
for founding the Mt. SAC track relays in 1959. These relays soon became one of the world’s largest track
and field meets, held annually in April. Mr. Lodge retired in 1963 and passed away in 1977 (Mt. SAC
Relays 2016). The stadium has been the venue for the 1962, 1979, and 1980 U.S. National Track & Field
Championships. It is also the host of the Mt. SAC Cross Country Invitational, the world’s largest cross-
country event (LA Sports 2016; Mt. SAC Relays 2016).

The stadium is situated between two hills in the southeast portion of Mt. SAC’s campus. The stadium
consists of several elements including the press box (50F), concession stand (50H), Physical Education
Center Field House (50G), ticket booth (50A), four restrooms (50B-E), running track, football field, two
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sections of bleachers, and scoreboard. The cross-country track runs west and south of the stadium. A fitness
course runs south and east of the stadium.

The stadium holds a maximum of 15,000 spectators between the two sections of concrete bleachers on
either side of the track and field. The seating consists of both wood board benches and metal benches, all
with back supports. Seating is accessed by concrete steps with metal railings at various areas along the
bleachers. On the rear peak of each side of bleachers are two elevated metal structures that hold the arena
lighting fixtures. The football field is natural grass. The track is 400 meters of polyurethane athletic surface
with nine lanes. The scoreboard is located to the north of the field and is free-standing.

At the peak of the west bleachers sits the stadium press box, Building 50F. This building is rectangular in
form and faces east toward the track and field. It consists of a concrete foundation, vertical wood boards,
and a flat roof. The building is single story with a bottom level that is accessed on the west facade; the
bottom level is enclosed with doors that lead to the mezzanine level. The mezzanine consists of an
unenclosed recessed deck that has seating and a metal and glass-enclosed press box. There are rectangular
fluorescent light fixtures on the ceiling and an open metal grid-pattern wall on either end of the building
within this level. On top of the mezzanine is an open upper deck with a metal railing. The east facade of
the building reads “Mt. San Antonio College” on the fascia between the upper deck and the mezzanine
level, and “Home of the Mounties” on the fascia between the mezzanine level and lower level.

At the north end of the track and field is Building 50H, the stadium concession stand. This is a single-story
brick building with a shed roof. The footprint is rectangular and the foundation is concrete. It has boarded-
over concession stand openings on the north and east fagades. The roof has exposed rafter tails and
overhanging eaves. On the south fagade are three doors, two with metal security doors and one flush wood.
The interior of the building consists of a concrete floor and a metal industrial sink.

The Physical Education Center Field House, Building 50G is located south of the track and field and was
constructed in 1972. This building contains the men’s and women’s locker rooms, and track and field and
other offices. The building is composed of a single-story concrete building, irregular in footprint with a
concrete foundation. The exterior siding is scored concrete. The roof is flat with a concrete canopy
surrounding the roofline. The windows are primarily aluminum fixed and awning. The primary entrance is
on the north fagade and consists of a partial-width recessed porch with a concrete breeze block wing wall
to the east of the entrance. The primary door is metal and surrounded by aluminum sidelights and transoms.
The interior of the building has glass and metal enclosed offices, linoleum tile and carpeted floors, flush
wood doors, and drop tile ceilings.

Other buildings associated with the stadium include two sets of men’s and women’s restroom buildings.
The earlier set are single-story concrete buildings located to the southwest and southeast of the track and
field on the south ends of the bleachers. These buildings consist of rectangular footprints, concrete
foundations, scored concrete exterior walls, and flat roofs with an overhang on the primary facades. The
buildings are divided into two rooms, each with an entrance on either end of the primary fagade, with one
leading to the women’s restrooms and the other leading to the men’s. The buildings appear to have been
constructed c. 1970 (historicaerials.com 1966, 1972).

To the north of the track and field are ticket sales and general admission buildings with concrete walls and
metal gates. There is another restroom building as well. These buildings are similar in style with concrete
brick siding, single-story, metal flush doors with metal pent roofs. They appear to have been built c. 1985
and replaced the original 1948 ticket sales and general admission buildings (historicaerials.com 1980, 1995;
Mt. SAC 1948).

Hilmer Lodge Stadium (consisting of Buildings S0A-H as well as other related elements built prior to 1973)
is a contributor to the Mt. SAC Historic District.
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Figure 5.  View looking southwest at Hilmer Lodge Stadium, including the track,
western bleachers, and press box (50D).

Figure 6. View looking east from western bleachers toward eastern bleachers.

CRER Mt. SAC SEIR for 2015 FMPU and PEP 25



4. Identification of Historic Resources

Figure 7.  Press box (50F), view looking west of east facade.

Figure 8.  Field House (50G), view looking southeast of east and north fagades.
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Figure 9. Concessions building (50H), view looking west of east and north fagades.

Figure 10.

Detail view
of track,
view looking
southeast of
southwest
section.
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4.1.3 Oden House (Buildings 12A/B)

Buildings 12A/B were constructed in 1947 as a single-family residence in the Spanish Colonial Revival
style (Figure 11). They served as the residence for the college’s first campus maintenance supervisor.
According to the 2003 Gregory DPR form, the building is referred to as the “Oden House,” presumably
named after the first college maintenance supervisor; however, no other documentation or mention of this
name is given in the report or DPR (Gregory 2003). Building 12A is the residence. Building 12B is believed
to have served as a garage for the residence, but unusually contains a vented cupola at the top of the hipped
roof that housed a siren.

Figure 11. Oden House (12A) and garage (12B) to the right, view looking north at south fagade.

Oden House is located in the northwest part of the campus, south of Edinger Way and Walnut Drive. At
the time of the survey, the building was vacant and in a partial state of demolition. The single-story building
has a concrete foundation and a T-shaped footprint. It was covered in stucco prior to partial demolition.
The exterior siding at the time of the survey consisted of diagonal wood boards that were originally used
as lathing for the stucco exterior. The roof is cross-gable with shallow eaves and is clad in red clay tiles.
Concrete steps with an iron railing lead to the primary entrance which is located within the northeast corner
of the south fagade and consists of a recessed entrance with a wood door. Since demolition began, the
windows have been removed. Originally they consisted of wood casements. Other features of the building
include bird’s nest vents made of red clay tiles located under the apex of the gable end projections. The
building has a chimney on the west gable end lateral interior. The interior of the building consists of wood
floors, plaster walls, arched entryways, pocket doors, and exposed beams on the ceiling. The building plan
consists of eight rooms (Oden House 1999).

Extensive modifications to the building include the removal of the stucco, windows, chimney cap, as well
as the addition of the ramp that is on the south fagade. This ramp does not appear in a 2003 photo of the
building, only the concrete steps that lead to an open stoop in front of the primary entrance door (Gregory
2003). As a result, there has been a significant loss of integrity of materials, design, workmanship, feeling,
and association.
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The detached garage building (12B) is located east of the residence. The garage consists of a single-story
building clad in textured stucco with overhanging eaves and exposed rafters. The roof is pyramidal and clad
in red clay tiles. There is a metal vented cupola at the peak of the roof housing a siren. The garage also has
paired aluminum sash windows and two pedestrian doors on the east and west facades, and a metal roll top
garage door on the south fagade.

4.1.4 Building 1A

Building 1A, the Art Center, was constructed in 1972 (Figure 12). The Modern single-story building has a
rectangular floor plan and concrete foundation. The educational building has brick and poured concrete
siding and a flat roof. The windows are primarily fixed steel and are located on the north facade. Concrete
steps with metal railings lead to the primary entrance on the south fagcade that consists of a partial-width
arcade with rectangular concrete columns. At the center of the walkway within the arcade is a large glass
display case flanked by walls of built-in lockers. In between the columns of the arcade are large concrete
bulkheads adorned with geometric mosaics facing south; the north sides of the bulkheads have built-in
lockers. Within the arcade are five entrances consisting of flush metal doors, some with partial glazing.

Figure 12. View of the south fagade of Building 1A.

On the north, the fagade consists of a poured concrete exterior with squared pilasters. In between the
pilasters are boarded-over window openings with small partitions in between. Above the row of boarded-
over windows are rows of steel-framed windows. Some classroom entrances are located on this facade, as
well as a recessed porch entrance with mechanical equipment within. There is a kiln for the ceramics
department located on the east fagade within a walled partition. Secondary entrances are located on the east
and west fagades.
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Modifications to the building include the boarding-over of windows on the north fagade. Landscape features
include walled-in garden beds on the south facade, and grass lawns between concrete walkways. The
interior of the building consists of concrete tile floors, locker partitions, drop tile ceilings, and classroom
tables and chairs. The integrity of the building is good as the building retains integrity of materials, design,
workmanship, location, setting, feeling, and association.

The building was designed by the architectural firm Austin, Field, & Fry.

4.1.5 Building 4

Building 4, the Administration building, was constructed in 1965 in the Modern style (Figure 13). It is a
two-story building located on the northeast of Temple and Grand avenues on the southwest side of the Mt.
SAC campus. The administration building has a rectangular footprint with a concrete foundation. The upper
portion of the building’s exterior is clad in brick with scored concrete siding on the lower portion of the
building. The brick is laid in three sections of running bond with a single sailor course in between each
section. The concrete on the lower portion of the building is scored in a grid pattern. The roof is flat and
has a poured concrete parapet cap. There is a penthouse on the roof that houses mechanical equipment. The
primary entrance is located on the east facade and consists of a centrally-located recessed aluminum and
glass entryway with a steel canopy over the double doors that have steel beams and screens to shade the
entrance. The recessed entrance has been framed-in with steel posts and beams and accommodates lighting
fixtures at the ceiling of the entryway. A secondary entrance is located on the north facade where a non-
original steel canopy has also been installed. The south and west facades also have secondary entrances
located within the lower portion of the building that has scored concrete siding. These entrances, like the
east and north, consist of aluminum-framed glass entryways.

Figure 13. View of the primary (west) facade of Building 4.
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Modifications to the building include two additional fixed windows on the north fagade, four additional
fixed windows on the east fagade, the steel post and beam framing and canopy on the east entrance, the
canopy on the north facade’s entrance, and the addition of five windows on south fagade. According to
original building plans, the narrow paired windows on the north and south fagades were originally filled in
with colored glass block windows, and have since been replaced with fixed metal windows. The interior of
the building consists of carpet and tile floors, squared columns and a designed angular, cut-out ceiling. The
building retains high integrity of material, location, setting, and association. The building has lost some
integrity of design and workmanship with the installation of a number of additional windows that change
the fenestration of the building. The building retains sufficient overall integrity.

Building 4 was originally constructed to function as the administration center for registration, admission
counseling, and other auxiliary services. The architectural firm Austin, Field, & Fry designed the building
and the Steed Brothers Construction Company of Alhambra were the building contractors.

Figure 14. Oblique view of the north and west facades of Building 6.

4.1.6 Building 6

Building 6, the Library, was constructed in 1963 in the Modern style (Figure 14, above). It is a three-story
building located on the northeast side of Temple and Grand avenues on the west side of the Mt. SAC
campus. The educational building has a rectangular footprint with a concrete foundation. The exterior is
clad in brick and scored concrete siding. The brick is laid in three sections of running bond with a single
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sailor course in between each section. Precast concrete panels are located in groupings of three, creating
projecting bays along the upper-stories’ exterior plane. The roof is flat and has a screened projection that
holds mechanical equipment. The primary entrance is located on the south facade and consists of a glass
and metal entryway underneath a partial-width porch with a canopy projection that is supported by two
perforated brick walls. A secondary entrance is located on the north facade and consists of a recessed
entryway with two electronic sliding doors surmounted by scored concrete siding. Windows are located on
the side of the bay projections and are fixed glass. There are louvered vent openings along the lower portion
of the building. The interior of the building includes large linoleum tile floors and drop-tile ceilings with a
large cut-out on the ceiling at the south entrance that leads to a rotunda on the second floor.

Modifications to the building include the redesigning of the concrete bays. According to original building
plans, the concrete bays were precast in a Mid-Century Modern geometric design. Other modifications
include replacement doors, the addition of windows along the bay projections, and the replacement of the
south fagade’s porch canopy. The building has experienced some loss of integrity of materials, design,
workmanship, and feeling.

The building was designed by the architectural firm Austin, Field, & Fry; the building contractors were the
Steed Bros. of Alhambra, California. It was originally constructed to house a library with four sections:
biological-applied sciences and physical sciences, technical trades, social science, and the humanities.

4.1.7 Building 7

Building 7, the Science South building, was constructed in 1960 in the Modern style (Figure 15). It is a
two-story building located on the northeast side of Temple and Grand avenues on the west side of the Mt.
SAC College campus. The educational building has an L-shaped floor plan with a concrete foundation. The
exterior is clad in scored concrete siding with a brick bulkhead along the east. The roof is flat and has a
screened projection that holds mechanical equipment. The primary entrance is located on the southwest
corner of the building and consists of concrete steps and a concrete ramp that lead to three metal and glass
double-doors located within a recessed entryway covered by a flat canopy porch roof. On the south section
of the L, the building is single-story. There is a secondary entrance on the east end of this section which
consists of a recessed entryway with a metal canopy. This section has no windows, but there are louvered
vents on the south facade. On the north fagade the exterior siding is flush concrete with the brick bulkhead.
The north section of the L consists of two stories. On the inside of the L on the east fagade of the north
section, there are two rows of fixed metal windows that line the facade. These rows of windows are
interrupted by vertical projections that create bays along the fagade. On the north fagade of the north section
is another entrance to the building that has a metal canopy over a recessed entryway. Above this entryway
are two columns of windows. The west facade of the north section of the building consists of another
entrance that is within a brick and concrete entrance on the northwest corner of the building. The west
facade is also lined with two rows of fixed metal windows. The interior of the building includes linoleum
tile floors, a floating brick wall within the south entrance, and plaster ceilings.

Modifications to the building include the additional door on the south fagade, addition of the canopy on the
entrance on the south section of the L’s east fagade, the replacement of all the windows, the removal of the
louvered shade projections over the windows, the canopy over the entrance on north facade, and the new
entryway projection on the northwest corner of the building. These modifications have resulted in some
loss of integrity of materials, design, workmanship, feeling, and association.

The building was designed by the architectural firm Austin, Field, & Fry.
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Figure 15. Oblique view of the west and south fagades of Building 7.

Figure 16. Oblique view of the south and east fagades of Building 9A.
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4.1.8 Building 9A

Building 9A, the Bookstore, was constructed in 1969 in the Modern style (Figure 16, previous page). It is
a single-story educational building located on the northeast side of Temple and Grand avenues on the west
side of the Mt. SAC campus. The bookstore has a rectangular plan with a concrete foundation. The exterior
is clad in brick siding with vertical concrete post inlays. The roof is flat with concrete parapet caps. The
primary entrance is located south fagade and consists of a full-width porch canopy made of a poured
concrete roof and squared posts. Within this arcade are three recessed entrances surrounded by sidelights
and transom windows. There are also two illuminated display cases built into the wall plane as well as two
pass-thru counter windows on this fagade. There is a secondary entrance located on the west fagade that has
a metal canopy and a mosaic tile wing wall covering part of the recessed entrance. On the north facade is a
sloped driveway that leads to a loading dock. Modifications to the building include replacement doors. The
building retains integrity of materials, design, workmanship, feeling, association, setting, and location.

The building was designed as the Student Union and Activity Facility by the architectural firm Austin,
Field, & Fry.

Figure 17. Oblique view of the east and south fagades of Building 11.

4.1.9 Building 11

Building 11 was constructed in 1960 as the second unit in a new physical science complex on the Mt. San
Antonio College campus (Figure 17, above). Building 11 is a generally L-shaped one-story Modern
educational building with a basement. A lower, windowless addition at the southwest tip of the building is
clad in smooth stucco. The building primarily has brick and smooth stucco cladding and a flat roof with no
eaves. A wing wall at the southeast fagade of the main wing is clad in smooth stucco with widely spaced
scoring. Deep, flat metal-clad cantilevered roofs shelter the open passageways extending across the
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northeast and southwest fagades of the main wing. A series of stucco-clad pylons support the roof at the
south end of the southwest fagade of the main wing. A metal pergola extends across the northwest fagade.
Back-to-back classrooms are accessed from open corridors on both sides of the building, and breezeways
provide access through the two wings of the building. Fixed-pane windows and flat metal doors mark the
locations of the classrooms. Lecture halls are located in the southwest wing, with a metal pergola and
corrugated metal canopies over the doors.

Modifications to the building include the addition to the secondary wing at the western terminus of the
original building, the metal pergolas at the northwest facade and at the southwest facade of the secondary
wing, and a series of concrete ramps, stairs, and paths with steel tubular railings. These modifications have
resulted in some loss of integrity of materials, design, workmanship, feeling, and association.

41.10 Building 12

Building 12, the Counseling Support or North Hall building, was constructed in 1963 in the Modern style
(Figure 18). It is a single-story educational building located on the located on the northeast side of Temple
and Grand avenues on the west side of the Mt. SAC campus. The building has a V-shaped plan with a
concrete foundation. The exterior is clad in brick siding. The roof is a low-pitched hipped roof with
overhanging eaves and clad in metal. The primary entrance is located within a full-width recessed arcade
on the south fagade and consists of several doors that lead to offices and classrooms. The porch arcade is
supported by large rectangular columns of scored concrete. The doors and windows have been replaced
since the building’s original construction and consist of metal-framed opaque windows and doors. There is
a central breezeway that leads to the rear of the building, which has a parking lot. The north facade of the
building consists of multi-light fixed metal-framed windows. There is a chimney near the center of the
building along the rear of the ridgeline along the roof. Modifications to the building include the replacement
of doors and windows and roofing material. According to original building plans, the roof was made of tile,
and the north fagade did not have windows. Landscape features include a concrete central courtyard to the
south of the building with planting beds and a central walkway. These modifications have resulted in
significant loss of integrity of materials, design, workmanship, feeling, and association.

The building was designed as the Agricultural Science Building and originally had animal labs, offices, and
classroom space. It was designed by the architectural firm Austin, Field, & Fry.

4.1.11 Buildings 26A/B/D

Buildings 26A, B, and D (Humanities North, Humanities East, and Humanities South, respectively) were
constructed in 1967 as a complex of educational buildings for the humanities (Figures 19-21). The Modern-
style buildings have flat roofs and are clad in red brick with a wide band of poured concrete at the top and
base of the buildings. Because of the grade of the site, the complex is three stories in height at the north and
four stories at the south. The three buildings are arranged in an H shape, forming a courtyard at the west
and an area to accommodate Building 26C (the Planetarium) at the east. The buildings are connected by
continuous open passageways. A series of regularly spaced rectangular concrete columns extend from the
ground level to the roof, and metal railings span the distance between the columns. The floor of each
passageway provides a shelter for the passageway below, and a wide, deep roof provides shelter for the
passageway at the highest level. The complex has interior staircases at each end of the two larger buildings;
at the west facades, elevators are housed in scored-concrete elements that project from the brick fagade of
the building.

The focal point of the complex is the spacious landscaped courtyard. At the east end of the courtyard is a
three-story suspended concrete staircase anchored by a multi-story curved brick-clad pylon. At the center
of the concave side of the pylon is a dramatic modern clock with stylized numbers and hands separately
mounted on the fagade.
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Figure 18. View of the south fagade of Building 12.

Figure 19. View of the east fagade of Building 26A.
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Figure 20. View of the breezeway between Buildings 26A and B.

Figure 21. View of the second story corridor of Building 26D.
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The buildings have back-to-back classrooms accessed from the open corridors. Classrooms have flat metal
doors, generally with a single large light. Windows are sparse throughout the complex, consisting of one or
two fixed-pane windows for each classroom.

The complex was designed by campus architects Austin, Field & Fry. The contract for the “social science
center” for $3,053,000 was awarded to Steed Bros. Construction Co. of Alhambra in March 1966. At the
time, the project was said to be the largest construction project in Mt. SAC’s history. The complex was
planned for 102,000 square feet, including 63 classrooms, five laboratories, 50 offices, and a lecture room
in the connecting building. It was to house the sociology, psychology and philosophy, historic and political
science, and public service and safety departments (Progress-Bulletin 1966).

Modifications to Buildings 26 A/B/D include addition of elevators to the west fagades of Buildings 26A and
26C and a pedestrian bridge from the second floor of Building 26A north to the parking lot. As a result,
there are minor losses of integrity of materials, design, and workmanship. The interiors were not accessible
at the time of the survey.

Figure 22. View of the south fagade entrance of Building 26C.

4112 Building 26C

Building 26C, constructed in 1967, houses the Planetarium (Figure 22, above). It is associated with the
Humanities complex (Buildings 26 A/B/D) and is stylistically similar. Building 26C is a Modern one-and-
a-half-story building with an irregular floor plan. The nearly flat roof of the building extends slightly
upward toward the east. At the west end, it is physically connected to Building 26B, and it intrudes on the
space between Buildings 26A and 26D without touching.
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Building 26C is clad in red brick with a wide band of poured concrete at the top and base. The exterior
walls are vertically scored. Two identical primary entrances are aligned with each other at the north and
south fagades. The primary entrances are inset into the main mass of the building and are defined by a
projecting one-story poured-concrete frame with two square cut-outs on one side and a concrete planter box
below. Individually mounted aluminum letters reading “Jim and Eleanor Randall Planetarium” is mounted
on a wall of rectangular, vertically laid brown glazed ceramic tile to the side of each door. Each entrance
has a double aluminum-framed glass door with a glass transom above and side lights. A series of three
bubble-style acrylic skylights is above each entrance. Two secondary entrances consisting of flat metal
doors are at the north fagade. Other than the lights near the primary entrances, the building has no windows.

Building 26C was built as part of the new social science center (now called Humanities). Constructed at a
cost of $88,000, it housed a 50-seat planetarium (Valley Tribune 1966). It was designed by campus
architects Austin, Field and Fry and built by Steed Brothers Construction Co. of Alhambra (Progress-
Bulletin 1966).

Exterior modifications to Building 26C appear to be minimal, and it retains high integrity in all seven
aspects. Architectural plans show renovations in about 2001. The interior of the Planetarium was not
accessible at the time of the survey.

4113 Buildings 28A/B

Buildings 28A and 28B were constructed in 1971 as a single complex to house the Technology Center
(Figure 23). The complex has an irregular plan with sections of varying heights. The Modern complex has
a flat roof and is clad in red brick with poured concrete with scoring. The east portion of Building 28A is
clad in aggregate poured concrete with vertical scoring. There are no eaves, with the exception of the four-
story Building 28B to the south, which has a dramatic flat, deep overhang on all four sides. At the west and
east facades of Building 28B, a poured concrete slab with a scored grid extends the full height of the
building. It is offset from the brick fagade, and a door and a vertical row of windows is tucked behind each
side of the projection. In contrast, the north and south facades are simple brick-clad walls with squared
projecting concrete pilasters extending the full height of the building.

A one-story wing connects Building 28B to Building 26A to the north and east. The primary entrance
recessed below a heavy horizontal concrete shelter consists of a double set of aluminum-framed glass doors
set in a wall of glazing. A row of evenly spaced vertical windows extends along to the fagade to the south
of the entrance at the west fagade, and a one-and-a-half-story windowless wing housing a large lecture hall
is to the north. There is a secondary entrance with a small canopy at the north fagade.

The interiors of the west and south sections of the complex consist of double-loaded interior corridors with
classrooms accessible on both sides. The ceilings are acoustical tile with recessed fluorescent lighting, the
walls are painted brick and plaster, and the floors are asphalt tile. There is an elevator and two staircases.
The staircases have mosaic tile wainscoting, an ornamental feature that is repeated in the first-floor
hallways.

The Technology Center opened in the fall of 1971, although the shop-laboratory was in use by fall of 1969
It housed space for aeronautics, machine tool, drafting, electronics, and other technical vocational programs
(Progress-Bulletin 1971). It was designed by architects Austin, Field & Fry, who were responsible for the
redevelopment plan of the campus in the late 1950s and who designed several of the individual buildings
added to the campus in the postwar period and into the 1970s.

Buildings 28A and 28B appear to be minimally altered, although some of the corrugated concrete sections
toward the northeast appear to have been added later. The buildings retain high integrity in all seven aspects.
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Figure 23. Oblique view of south and east facades of Building 28 A/B.

41.14 Building 47

Building 47, the Maintenance and Facilities building, was constructed in 1968 in the Modern style (Figure
24). It is a single-story maintenance building located on the southwest side of Temple Avenue and Service
Road on the east side of the Mt. SAC campus. The building has a rectangular floor plan with a concrete
foundation. The exterior is clad in baked enamel finished galvanized steel siding with a concrete block
bulkhead. The roof'is a low-pitched side gable roof with overhanging eaves and clad in metal. The primary
entrance is located on the north facade. The windows are primarily aluminum sliding windows. There are
also roll-top metal garage doors for maintenance equipment and vehicles. On the gable ends are large steel
frames that sit over the steel siding. There is no ornamentation on the building. The interior of the building
includes tile and carpet floors with garage spaces and offices.

Constructed as the Maintenance and Operations building, it was designed to house five offices and shops
for carpenters, electricians, plumbers, general maintenance, painters, and gardeners. It was part of a larger
complex which included Building 48 to consolidate facilities, maintenance, operations, receiving-
distribution, and transportation departments in a single modern complex called the College Service Center.
The cost was $1.1 million, including outdoor storage areas and the construction of Bonita Drive. The
complex was designed by Mt. SAC campus architects Austin, Field & Fry as an element of the college
master plan, with Hartman Construction Company of San Bernardino as contractor. The modern concrete
block-and-steel buildings are Type V-N construction. Groundbreaking for the center was August 1967, with
completion on August 2, 1968 (Mt. SAC c. 1948).
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Figure 24. Oblique view toward the west of the northeast and southeast fagades of Building 47.

The center originally included two buildings, as well as parking lots and storage yards. Building 47, with
an area of 21,000 square feet, was dedicated to maintenance and operations and included air-conditioned
offices, locker rooms, and custodian, grounds, plumbing, heating-ventilating, electrical, paint, and carpenter
shops. Building 48, with an area of 34,450 square feet, was dedicated to transportation and receiving-
distribution. It included offices, a large warehouse, hydraulic dock levels, and a three-bay garage with two
hoists.

Modifications to Building 47 include the replacement metal-framed windows on the northeast corner of the
building. Despite these modifications, the building retains integrity of materials, design, workmanship,
location, setting, feeling, and association.

41.15 Building 48

Building 48, the Warchouse and Transportation building, was constructed in 1968 in no particular
architectural style (Figure 25). It is a single-story maintenance building located on the southwest side of
Temple Avenue and Service Road on the east side of the Mt. SAC campus. The building has a rectangular
floor plan with a concrete foundation. The exterior is clad in vertically-oriented steel siding with a concrete
block bulkhead. The roof is a low-pitched side gable roof with overhanging eaves and clad in metal. The
primary entrance is located on the north fagade. The windows are primarily multi-light steel security
windows. The building also has metal louvered vents under the roofline and over the roll-top metal garage
doors. There is no ornamentation on the building. The interior of the building includes bays for equipment
and vehicles as well as a large warehouse space with a concrete floor, a tall exposed metal frame ceiling,
and metal shelving for storage.
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Figure 25. Oblique view toward the south of the northwest and northeast fagades of Building 48.

The building was constructed as the Maintenance and Operations building and was designed to house three
offices and warehouse storage space as well as an adjustable dock by the architectural firm Austin, Field &
Fry.

There appear to be no major modifications to the building. As such, the building retains integrity of design,
materials, workmanship, feeling, association, location, and setting.

4.1.16 Farm Buildings History

The Mt. SAC School Farm has been an integral part of the campus since at least the postwar era. In the
1950s, there were areas dedicated to horticulture, turkeys, chickens, pigs, and cattle. There were orchards
of citrus and avocados, as well as vineyards. During the 1950s, a beef barn and corrals, an agricultural
engineering building, and tractor storage buildings were constructed. In the 1970s, the animal sciences
curriculum was expanded, and a veterinary laboratory and small animal vivarium (F5) were built (Hall and
Pietzsch 1996:77). The buildings on the farm were simple utilitarian structures that were initially considered
temporary. The first permanent agricultural facility to be built at the college was the agricultural sciences
building (Building 12), which is on the main campus and not a part of the farm per se. In 1969, campus
architects Austin, Field & Fry reported on campus buildings that did not conform to the earthquake
specifications of the Field Act. Among the 13 buildings slated to the replaced or remodeled during the 1969-
1970 school year, most were in the agricultural sciences area (Mt. SAC archives, “SAC Accepts Campus
Architectural Report,” no source, n.d.).
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Building F1

Building F1, the Horticulture Unit/G3, was constructed in 1959 in no particular architectural style (Figure
26). It is a single-story agricultural building located on the southeast side of Farm Road and Bonita Drive
on the east side of the Mt. SAC campus. The building has a rectangular floor plan with a concrete
foundation. It has a rectangular, open plan sitting on a poured-concrete foundation. The moderately pitched
front-gabled roof is covered in asphalt shingles. Three turban-style aluminum ventilation units sit at the
ridgeline of the roof. The walls consist of horizontal wood boards on the lower portion and screens or
aluminum slider windows on the upper portion. A Greenhouse (G3) is connected to the north end of the
building. The entrance is a flat double metal door at the south fagade.

At the interior a wall of glazing with a central door separates Building F1 from Building G3. The ceiling is
exposed wood beams with plywood in between. The major beams are supposed by round steel poles. The
floor is poured concrete. Lighting is rows of hanging fluorescent fixtures. Modifications to the building
include the replacement windows on the east facade. Despite these modifications, the building retains
integrity of materials, design, workmanship, location, setting, feeling, and association.

The building was constructed as the Horticulture Head House by the architectural firm Austin, Field & Fry.

Building F2A

Building F2A, the Horticultural Offices, was constructed in 1971 in no particular architectural style (Figure
27). It is a single-story agricultural building located on the southeast side of Farm Road and Bonita Drive
on the east side of the Mt. SAC campus. It has a rectangular plan. The front-gabled roof has a small
clerestory at the ridgeline and is covered in corrugated metal. Wide eaves at the north and south facades
have exposed rafters. There are large centrally located barn-style doors at the west and east fagades. The
walls and doors are constructed of corrugated metal. Horizontal openings at the top of the south wall are
covered in wire screen. The interior is a single open space. It has exposed wood beam ceilings and poured
concrete and dirt flooring. Lighting consists of strings of bare lightbulbs. Modifications to the building
include the boarding over of windows on the east and west fagades with wood paneling, and replacement
of the primary entrance door. The building has undergone loss of integrity of materials, design,
workmanship, and association.

The building was constructed as the Poultry Warehouse by the architectural firm Austin, Field & Fry.

Building F2B

Building F2B, the Horticultural Offices, was constructed in 1960 in no specific architectural style (Figure
28). It is a single-story agricultural building located on the southeast side of Farm Road and Bonita Drive
on the east side of the Mt. SAC campus. The building has a rectangular floor plan with a concrete
foundation. The exterior is clad in corrugated metal sheet siding. The roof is a front gable roof clad in
standing seam metal sheets. Wide eaves at the north and south fagades have exposed rafters. The primary
entrance is located on the west facade and consists of a top hinged sliding metal door. A row of metal-
framed windows line the south facade and sit underneath the overhanging eaves. There are no windows on
the north fagade. The interior is a single open space. It has exposed wood beam ceilings and poured concrete
and dirt flooring. Modifications to the building include the boarding over of the north facade with wood
paneling, and replacement of the east fagade door. The building has undergone loss of integrity of materials,
design, workmanship, and association.

The building was constructed as the Poultry Warehouse by the architectural firm Austin, Field & Fry.
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Figure 26. View of the south fagade of Building F1.

Figure 27. View of the west fagade of Building F2A.
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Figure 28. View of the west fagade of Building F2B.

Building F3A

Building F3A, the Old Dairy Unit, was constructed in 1960 in no particular architectural style (Figure 29).
It is a single-story agricultural building located on the southeast side of Farm Road and Bonita Drive on the
east side of the Mt. SAC campus. The building has a rectangular floor plan with a concrete foundation. The
exterior is clad in cement plaster siding. The roof is a front gable roof clad in standing seam metal sheets.
The primary entrance is located on the west facade and consists of two metal-framed glass door. A row of
metal-framed windows line the south fagade and sit underneath the overhanging eaves. There are also
galvanized metal vertical louvers on the south end of the building that is on the south and north fagades.
There is a breezeway on the south and north fagades that is connected by the continuation of the front gable
roof and has a sliding metal door. Modifications to the building include the removal of a concrete wall on
the north facade. Despite these modifications, the building retains integrity of materials, design,
workmanship, location, setting, feeling, and association.

The building was constructed as the Dairy Unit by the architectural firm Austin, Field & Fry.

Building F4A

Building F4A, the Swine Market Pens, was constructed in 1971 in no specific architectural style (Figure
30). It is a single-story agricultural building located on the southeast side of Farm Road and Bonita Drive
on the east side of the Mt. SAC campus. The building has a rectangular floor plan with a concrete
foundation. The exterior is clad in galvanized metal siding on the west end of the building. The building is
mostly unenclosed on the east part of the building, and has no exterior walls. There are concrete curbs along
the east, north, and south fagades. There appear to be no modifications to the building. The building retains
integrity of materials, design, workmanship, location, setting, feeling, and association.

The building was constructed as the Swine Unit by the architectural firm Austin, Field & Fry.
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Figure 29. Oblique view of the north and west fagades of Building F3A.

Figure 30. Oblique view of the north and west fagades of Building F4A.
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Building F5

Building F5, the Vivarium, was constructed in 1971 in no particular architectural style (Figure 31). It is a
single-story agricultural building located on the southeast side of Farm Road and Bonita Drive on the east
side of the Mt. SAC campus. The building has a rectangular floor plan with a concrete foundation. The
exterior is clad in corrugated metal sheet siding. The primary entrance is located on the west facade and
consists of a single flush wood door. There is a secondary entrance on the south fagade and consists of a
single flush wood door next to double partially-vented doors. The east end of the building is open on the
south fagcade. Modifications include replacement siding and possible alterations in fenestration. The
building retains integrity of materials, design, workmanship, location, setting, feeling, and association.

Figure 31. View of the west fagade of Building F5.

Building F6A

Building F6A, the Breeding Barn, was constructed c. 2000 in no specific architectural style (Figure 32). It
is a single-story agricultural building located on the southeast side of Farm Road and Bonita Drive on the
east side of the Mt. SAC campus. The building has a rectangular floor plan with a concrete foundation. The
exterior is clad in metal shed siding. The roof is a front gable roof with shed roof extensions that are clad
in standing seam metal sheets. The primary entrance is located on the east fagade and consists of a top-
hinged sliding metal door. A row of metal-framed windows line the south and north fagades that sit
underneath the overhanging eaves of the front gable roof. There are secondary entrances on the north and
south fagades and a corral on the south end of the building. The interior is made of metal-framed horse
stalls with a concrete tile floor.
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Figure 32. Oblique view of the east and north fagades of Building F6A.

Building F7

Building F7, the Equipment Tech Unit, was constructed in 1971 in no specific architectural style (Figure
33). It is a single-story agricultural building located on the southeast side of Farm Road and Bonita Drive
on the east side of the Mt. SAC campus. The building has a rectangular floor plan with a concrete
foundation. The exterior is clad in corrugated metal sheet siding. The roof is a front gable roof clad in
standing seam metal sheets. The primary entrance is located on the east fagade and consists of a top-hinged
sliding metal door. The windows are metal industrial jalousie windows. Modifications to the building
include the boarding over of the north fagade with wood paneling and replacement of the east fagade door.
The building retains integrity of materials, design, workmanship, location, setting, feeling, and association.

The building was constructed by the architectural firm Austin, Field & Fry.

Building G2

Building G2, the Greenhouse, was constructed in 1963 in no particular architectural style (Figure 34). It is
a single-story agricultural building located on the southeast side of Farm Road and Bonita Drive on the east
side of the Mt. SAC campus. The building has a rectangular floor plan with a concrete foundation. The
exterior is clad in corrugated metal sheet siding. The roof is a curved semicircular roof clad in vinyl sheets.
The primary entrance is located on the south fagade and consists of a top-hinged sliding metal door. There
are no windows on the building. The building appears to be completely remodeled from its original
construction.

The building was constructed as the Poultry Warehouse by the architectural firm Austin, Field & Fry.
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Figure 33. View of the east fagade of Building F7.

Figure 34. View of the south fagade of Building G2.
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4117 Wildlife Sanctuary

In 1965, Mt. SAC college officials began to make plans for the Wildlife Sanctuary to the east of the
intersection of Temple and Grand avenues, at a corner where a gas station had been considered (Los Angeles
Times 1965). Located on an 18-acre triangular site, the proposed sanctuary was organized around an
existing flood channel, which had been a naturally flowing creek until the 1960s (historicaerials.com 1953,
1964). In addition to extensive planting, landscaping included a lake, marshes, a meadow, a pond, an
amphitheater, and a network of bridges and paths (Figure 35). The main goal was to use the landscaped
area for educational purposes, but it was also intended for wildlife observation and recreation by the public.
Paul Shaddle, chair of the biological sciences department, and Professor Bill Hawkins developed the plan
for the Wildlife Sanctuary (Valley Tribune 1965), which was designed by Santa Barbara landscape architect
John R. Russell and constructed by contractor Roy C. Barnett. The Sanctuary was completed in March
1967, but did not open until later that year to allow native animals displaced by construction to return and
give vegetation a chance to grow (Walnut Valley Bulletin 1967). Biology students were trained to conduct
tours for faculty, students, and the public.

Figure 35. View of a dirt path and field within the Wildlife Sanctuary.

The current Wildlife Sanctuary is a landscaped area situated on a fenced 10-acre site to the east of the
intersection of Temple and Grand avenues. To the northeast of the Sanctuary are the campus soccer fields
and a parking lot. The primarily heavily wooded Sanctuary includes a Walnut Woodland, a Native Plant
Exhibit, a Lake Shelter, Sycamore Woodland, as well as open grassy areas. Vegetation consists of a wide
variety of both native and non-indigenous species, including sumac, toyon, bay trees, live oak, sycamore,
and black walnut. Within the Sanctuary are water features including a lake, a swamp, and a pond, with a
central stream running through the site in a northwest to southeast direction. A system of bridges, paths,
and walkways provides pedestrian circulation throughout. Several small amphitheaters, shelters, and
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seating areas are scattered throughout the site. At the time of the survey, construction was under way to
expand the Sanctuary by continuing the creek to the southeast.

A hill to the southeast of the Sanctuary displays lettering reading “MSAC” in white-painted concrete on the
north and south flanks. According to Sanctuary personnel, the hill was added to the Sanctuary as a
mitigation for the widening of Grand Avenue, which meant a loss of acreage to the Sanctuary (personal
communication, Janine Petersen, March 25, 2016).

4118 Previously Documented Contributing Resources

Buildings documented as contributing resources to the historic district in 2002 had not been surveyed for
more than five years. As such, during the current survey effort, those buildings were re-documented and
included Buildings 1B/C, 3, 10, 17, 18, 19, and 20 (Figures 36-40). All buildings were found to still be
extant and that no major alterations had taken place since they were recommended eligible in 2002.

Buildings 27A, B, and C and Building 9C had been documented in 2012, and in accordance with guidelines
from the California State Historic Preservation Office, did not require resurvey as that survey look place
within five years. However, the prior survey report was reviewed (Davis 2012), and the buildings were
visually inspected during this effort to confirm that no major alterations had taken place.

Figure 36. Detail of mosaic on east fagade of Building 1B/C.
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Figure 37. Primary (north fagade) of Building 3.

Figure 38. View of the west fagade of Building 10.
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Figure 39. Oblique of east and north fagades of Buildings 17, 18, 19.

Figure 40. Oblique view of the west and south fagades of Building 20. Building 18 is
to the left of the photo.
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4.2 ARCHAEOLOGICAL SURVEY

Intensive pedestrian archaeological survey was conducted by ASM Senior Archaeologist Sherri Andrews.
Survey was undertaken primarily within the area of the Stadium and the Mt. SAC Wildlife Sanctuary, as
the other Project areas are currently developed with ground surfaces obscured by buildings, sidewalks,
parking lots, and introduced landscaping.

The Stadium area survey was conducted on January 21, 2016. This entire area has been heavily modified
by construction of the Stadium and its surrounding facilities, as well as additional sports fields, parking
lots, etc. (Figure 41). There was little evidence of extant original landforms or ground surfaces in the area.
Only areas of exposed soils within and surrounding the structures were available to be examined for
evidence of the presence of prehistoric or historic artifacts or deposits.

Figure 41. View looking southeast of disturbed ground west of Stadium’s press box (50F).

As some modifications in the form of additions to the Mt. SAC Wildlife Sanctuary are also part of the
Project, the Sanctuary was surveyed on March 26, 2016. Descriptions of the history of the Sanctuary (see
above) indicate that its creation included extensive landscaping within its 10-acre boundaries. As such,
while this represents one of the last open spaces on the campus, it is unclear the degree to which the ground
surface and original features and topography were modified at that time or since. As in the Stadium area,
all accessible areas within the Sanctuary were examined for the presence of archacological artifacts or
deposits. Accessible areas were primarily found along the edges of the maintained paths that have been
constructed throughout the Sanctuary and around areas cleared for use as teaching locales. In fact, on the
date of the survey, a large group of school children was present in the Sanctuary for a day-long teaching
experience about Native American lifeways. Additionally, it was observed that significant ground
disturbance was already underway in the area to the south of the Sanctuary where its expansion will be
taking place. That area was under active construction and as such, not accessible for survey.
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4.3 SUMMARY

No previously undocumented archaeological artifacts, features, or deposits were encountered or identified
within the Project area as a result of the archaeological surveys.

Twenty-two potential contributing resources to the Mt. SAC Historic District were documented as a result
of this survey from November 2015-March 2016. Of those 22, one was determined to not be old enough to
be a potential contributor (F6), and one was found to not retain sufficient integrity (12). Of the 24 buildings
previously identified as contributing resources to the historic district, 10 were found to have been
demolished, and one additional resource was documented as having lost integrity (12A/B).
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5. EVALUATION OF HISTORIC RESOURCES

5.1 MT. SAC HISTORIC DISTRICT

ASM concurs with our prior recommendation of eligibility of the Mt. SAC Historic District, with the
addition of 20 additional contributing resources, and a boundary expansion as indicated on Table 4 and
Figure 42. Consistent with our prior recommendation, the district is recommended as eligible for the CRHR
under Criterion 1 at the local level, under the theme of Education, for its association with the development
of Walnut, California, and its surrounding communities. The period of significance for the district is 1946-
1972, reflecting the date the present site of the college became its permanent residence, its early years of
development and growth, and ending with the construction of the last major campus facility (the Marie T.
Mills Aquatic Facility) to be built until the 1990s, before the growth of the college plateaued (only two
buildings being constructed between 1972 and 1990). Each eligible building/structure contributes to the
educational theme of the historic district, was built during the period of significance, and is located within
the boundaries of the historic district. All contributing resources also maintain good individual integrity in
all seven aspects.

ASM seriously considered whether the historic district as a whole retains sufficient overall integrity, given
the new construction and demolition that has taken place within the district since it was first identified in
2003 (Figure 43). Four major permanent buildings have been constructed since 2003. Buildings 60 and 61
were built in 2006 and 2009, respectively. More recently, the Design Technology Center, Building 13
(2012) and the New Food Services building (2015) have been constructed. A few other buildings have been
constructed in the south and east area of campus. Building 9B, built in 1994, was significantly expanded in
2009. Additionally, 10 buildings originally identified as contributing resources in 2003 have since been
demolished, and one more has lost integrity. As a result of this evaluation, 44 contributing resources to the
Mt. SAC Historic District have now been identified. Of those 44 contributing resources, 33 (75 percent)
remain as eligible contributing resources. The NRHP bulletin How to Apply the National Register Criteria
for Evaluation discussion on integrity for historic districts notes “[f]or a district to retain integrity as a
whole, the majority of the components that make up the district’s historic character must possess integrity
even if they are individually undistinguished” (National Park Service 1991:46). The Mt. SAC Historic
District retains significantly more than a majority of its contributing resources, and despite the four major
buildings added to the historic center of campus, the district still retains sufficient continuity and cohesion
to convey the sense of its historic environment from the end of its period of significance. A comparison of
its appearance in 1972 to a contemporary aerial photograph is a good illustration of the similarities and
differences (Figures 44 and 45).

Furthermore, NRHP bulletin How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation states that for
properties eligible for association under Criterion A (comparable to CRHR Criterion 1), “integrity of design
and workmanship might not be as important to the significance of the property” as the other aspects of
integrity (National Park Service 1991:48). Although the Mt. SAC Historic District retains sufficient
integrity in all seven aspects, it especially retains those most important aspects of integrity for associational
significance: location, setting, materials, feeling, and association. Finally, it passes the “basic integrity test”
as defined by the NRHP: “whether a historical contemporary would recognize the property as it exists
today” (National Park Service 1991:48).

The historic district is not recommended as eligible under CRHR Criterion 2 or Criterion 3. The district is
also not recommended as eligible under CRHR Criterion 4. It is a common property type in that it does not
have the potential to provide information about history or prehistory that is not available through historic
research.
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Figure 42. Mt. SAC Historic District identifying contributing resources for comprehensively
surveyed campus, April 2016.
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Figure 43. Historic aerial photograph of the Mt. SAC campus at the end
of the period of significance, 1972.

(Courtesy of Historicaerials.com)
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Figure 44. Current aerial photograph of the Mt. SAC campus.
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Figure 45. Mt. SAC Historic District illustrating extant contributing resources and demolished contributing
resources since 2003 establishment of historic district, April 2016.
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Several buildings are non-contributing resources. Counseling Support (12) and Oden House (12A/B) no
longer retain sufficient integrity to the period of significance—as such, they are not recommended as
contributors. ASM concurs with our prior recommendation that the Mountie Grill (19C) is not directly
associated with the theme of Education, and therefore is a non-contributing resource. Finally, although Mt.
SAC’s current records indicate that the Breeding Barn (F6A/B) was constructed in 1971, the building is not
evident on aerial photographs until 2002. It is likely that the date of construction on record is incorrect. As
the Breeding Barn (F6A/B) was not constructed during the period of significance, it is also a non-
contributing resource. All new buildings constructed within the historic district are also non-contributing
resources, as illustrated on Figure 42.

Table 4. Contributing and Non-Contributing Resources to the Mt. SAC Historic District, April 2016*
1A Art Center Extant Yes 3CD
1B/C Art Center/Gallery Extant Yes 3CD
3 Gym Extant Yes 3CD
4 Administration Extant Yes 3CD
5/5A Inform_?éigﬁnl(i)?ougcyational Demolished No longer
6 Library Extant Yes 3CD
7 Science South Extant Yes 3CD
8 Campus Café Demolished No longer
9A Bookstore/Auxiliary Services Extant Yes 3CD
9C Student Life Center Extant Yes 3CD
10 Founder’s Hall Extant Yes 3CD
11 Science North Extant Yes 3CD
12 Counseling Support Extant No 6Z
12A/B Oden House Extant No longer 6Z
13 Design Technology Demolished No longer
14N Biology Demolished No longer
14S History/GZ(::gi;eraggy/Political Demolished No longer
15 Modern Languages Demolished No longer
16 Building 16 Demolished No longer
17 Building 17 Extant Yes 3CD
18 Building 18 Extant Yes 3CD
19A Building 19A Extant Yes 3CD
19B Building 19B Extant Yes 3CD
19C Mountie Gril Extant (Davi';102012) 62
20 Building 20 Extant Yes 3CD

62
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21 Building 21 Demolished No longer

22 Welding Demolished No longer
26A/B/D Technology Center Extant Yes 3CD
26C Planetarium Extant Yes 3CD
27A Exercise Science/Wellness Extant Yes 3cD

Center

27B Pool Extant Yes 3CD
27C Physical Education Center Extant Yes 3CD
28A/B Technology Center Extant Yes Cri:;er%n 3 3CB
47 Maintenance/Facilities Extant Yes 3CD
48 Receiving/Transport Extant Yes 3CD
F1 Horticulture Unit/G3 Extant Yes 3CD
F2A Farm Offices Extant Yes 3CD
F2B Horticulture Storage Extant Yes 3CD
F3A Old Dairy Unit Extant Yes 3CD
F4A Swine Market Pens Extant Yes 3CD
F5 Vivarium Extant Yes 3CD
F6 Breeding Barn Extant No 6Z
F7 Equipment Tech Unit Extant Yes 3CD

F9 Livestock Pavilion Demolished No longer

G2 Greenhouse Extant Yes

50A-H Stadium Extant Yes s 3CB
Wildlife Sanctuary Extant Yes 3CD

*Recommendations date to April 2016. Status of each building surveyed is based on date of survey of that specific building, conducted between
November 2015 and March 2016.

5.2 INDIVIDUAL ELIGIBILITY

ASM carefully considered each of the contributors to the historic district to determine whether they are
individually eligible for the CRHR under Criteria 1, 2, 3, or 4. With the exception of the Hilmer Lodge
Stadium (50A-H) and the Technology Center (28A/B), none of the contributors meet these criteria, as
described below.

ASM considered whether any of the contributors are eligible under CRHR Criterion 1 for association with
the themes of Education, Recreation, or other any other broad historical theme. However, with the exception
of the Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H), none of the contributors were found to be good representations of
any of these themes on a larger regional level, and therefore none are recommended individually eligible
under Criterion 1. ASM also considered whether any of the contributors are eligible under CRHR Criterion
2 for association with the lives of any person of historical significance. As no evidence of such association
was found, none of the contributors are recommended individually eligible under Criterion 2.
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Additionally, ASM considered whether any of the contributors are eligible under CRHR Criterion 3 for
architectural significance. ASM considered each of the contributors as examples of the Spanish Colonial
Revival or Modern architectural styles, or a vernacular property types. However, with the exception of
Buildings 28A/B, none of the contributors individually embody the distinctive characteristics of these
architectural style or method of construction. The original design of Building 6 was a good representation
of Modernism, however, it has experienced too many alterations and does not retain sufficient to be
individually eligible. Mt. SAC campus architects Austin, Field & Fry, designers of the [1959] master plan
and of several of the college’s buildings addressed in this report, were prominent architects in Los Angeles
County. However, their works were not important or influential enough for them to be considered master
architects. Therefore, none of the contributors are recommended individually eligible under Criterion 3.

Finally, ASM considered whether any of the contributors are eligible under CRHR Criterion 4. They are
all common property types that do not have the potential to provide information about history or prehistory
that is not available through historic research. Therefore, none of the contributors are recommended
individually eligible under Criterion 4.

5.2.1 Technology Center (28A/B)

The Technology Center (28A/B) embodies the distinctive characteristics of the Modern architectural style.
The building exhibits this style through its character-defining features, which include exterior materials of
concrete and brick veneer, the wide cantilevered overhanging flat roof, the heavy rectangular Neoclassical
pilasters on Building 28B, the full-height stepped-out concrete plane at the east and west fagades of Building
28B, the irregular massing, and the lack of emphasis on entrances in the recessed central entrance between
buildings 28A and 28B and the doors at the sides of the concrete planes. The building has not experienced
any significant alterations and as such retains a high degree of integrity of materials, design, and
workmanship—the most important aspects of integrity under Criterion 3 (National Park Service 1991:48).
In comparison with other local examples of the Modern style in Walnut, specifically with other examples
found on the Mt. SAC campus, the building is a relatively good local representation of Modernism (National
Park Service 1991:47). Therefore, the Technology Center (28A/B) is recommended individually eligible
for the CRHR under Criterion 3 under the Theme of Architecture, with a period of significance of 1971.

5.2.2 Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H)

Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H) played a prominent role at the school’s early athletic program and reflects
the college’s long-standing efforts to foster student participation in extracurricular and recreational
activities. The Stadium was one of the first buildings constructed for the new college in 1948. Mt. SAC has
since hosted several national and international track and field events. The Mt. SAC relays soon became one
of the world’s largest track and field meets, held annually in April. As a result of the events that took place
at Hilmer Lodge Stadium, Mt. SAC garnered a worldwide reputation in the third quarter of the twentieth
century as one of the largest venues for track and field relays. Historically, athletic and /recreation has been
a major influence in the educational focus of the college, which has played a strong role regionally as well
at the community college level. Therefore, Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H) is recommended individually
eligible for the CRHR under Criterion 1 under the Themes of Education and Recreation, with a period of
significance of 1948-1972.
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6. IMPACTS ASSESSMENT
6.1 DIRECT IMPACTS

6.1.1 Demolition

Because of the demolition proposed, the Project poses the potential to cause an adverse direct impact
(Figure 46). The Project will result in the demolition of two contributors within the Mt. SAC Historic
District: the Stadium (50A-H) and Oden House (12A/B). Additionally, the Stadium is an individually
eligible CEQA historical resource. In 2010, IDS Group conducted a structural assessment to identify
necessary repairs to make the Stadium (excluding the Press Box) safer and more functional and to minimize
future damage. IDS Group estimated the cost of those repairs at $560,225 (Appendix E).

The demolition of the Stadium constitutes an adverse effect because the Project results in the complete loss
of contributing resources to a historic district, as well as an individually eligible resource. As such, the
Project will result in a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historic resource pursuant to
CEQA Section 21084.1 and a significant direct impact pursuant to CEQA Section 15064.5.

As Oden House (12A/B) is no longer a contributing resource to the historic district, its demolition will not
result in a direct adverse impact on a CEQA historical resource.

6.1.2 Renovation

Because the FMP proposes renovation of the Library (6), Bookstore (9A), and Technology Center (28 A/B)
the Project poses the potential to cause an adverse direct impact to those buildings (Figure 46). Specific
designs for the renovations and/or additions have not yet been developed. As long as the designs for the
renovations and/or additions to those buildings comply with the SOI Standards for Rehabilitation (see
Section 2.3), those aspects of the Project will not result in a significant direct impact pursuant to CEQA
Section 15064.5.

An architectural historian or historic architect who meets the SOI Professional Qualification Standards
(https://www.nps.gov/history/local-law/arch_stnds 9.htm) for either of those two disciplines must review
the proposed architectural drawings and renderings to ensure compliance with the Standards for
Rehabilitation. 1t is preferable that this qualified individual be involved with the project from its earliest
conception to ensure adherence to the Standards for Rehabilitation and to minimize alterations to plans later
in the design process.

6.2 INDIRECT IMPACTS

The new construction proposed as part of the Project poses the potential to cause adverse indirect visual
impacts. Visual impacts upon the historic district and individually eligible resources potentially include
views to and from the district and buildings. Mid-ground views of the historic district towards and from the
contributing resources are character-defining features. Distant views are not a character-defining feature of
the historic district, due to the dense concentration of buildings and/or topography of the land.

Traveling west on Temple Avenue, the Stadium is the first building or area of the campus that is visible
upon approaching the school. The Stadium is a visual demarcation of the campus at this location, and of
the eastern edge of the campus and historic district. As a prominently sited building, demolition of the
Stadium will result in a significant change to the historic district’s integrity of location, setting, design,
materials, workmanship, feeling, and association. As such, its demolition constitutes not just a direct
impact, but an adverse visual impact on the historic district as a whole. At the time of this analysis, plans
have not yet been drawn for the proposed new stadium, so it is not possible to assess whether the new
Stadium would be a beneficial or adverse visual impact.

CRER Mt. SAC SEIR for 2015 FMPU and PEP 65



6. Impacts Assessment

Figure 46. Contributing resources to the Mt. SAC Historic District that could potentially
be impacted by the SEIR.
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New construction is also proposed for the expansion of the Wildlife Sanctuary. Based on ASM’s
conversation with Mt. SAC staff familiar with the design plans, it does not appear that the proposed
expansion will result in an adverse indirect impact on the historic district. The design of the proposed
expansion will be visible from the Wildlife Sanctuary, but it will not introduce an element that is
incompatible with the criteria under which the property is eligible nor will it result in obstructive views.
The design will be compatible with the character-defining features of the Wildlife Sanctuary. The overall
impact to the historic district’s integrity of setting, feeling, or association as a whole is minimal; there is no
impact on the historic district’s integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship. As such, this
aspect of the project will not result in any adverse indirect visual impacts.

A pedestrian bridge will be constructed across Temple Avenue connecting the Physical Education Complex
to Parking Lot F. The pedestrian bridge will be visible from individually eligible Buildings 28A/B;
however, viewshed from that resource is not one its character-defining features. This pedestrian bridge will
create a minor, partial visual interruption of the mid-ground views from contributing resources in the
historic district. As the visual interruption is partial and minor, the overall impact to the historic district’s
integrity of setting, feeling, or association as a whole is minimal; there is no impact on the historic district’s
integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship. As such, this aspect of the project will not result
in any adverse indirect visual impacts.

Finally, the Project includes a series of special annual events to be held on campus that include the Mt.
SAC/Brooks Relays, the Mt. SAC XC Invite, and 2020 Olympic Track & Field Trials in 2020. It is not
anticipated that any of those events will result in adverse indirect visual impacts. Any disruption in the
historic views from and towards the historic district and its contributing resources will be a temporary visual
intrusion, and therefore, not adverse.
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7. MITIGATION MEASURES

71 ARCHAEOLOGICAL MITIGATION MEASURES

The archaeological investigations discussed above have not identified any prehistoric sites, historic sites,
isolated artifacts, or human remains within Project boundaries. However, as the majority of construction
undertaken on the Mt. SAC campus took place before the institution of the NHPA and CEQA, the Project
areas have never been fully assessed for the presence or absence of archaeological remains. Further, various
local Native American tribes claim this area as part of their ancestral and traditional territory (see Appendix
C). As such, there is a possibility of unanticipated and accidental archaeological discoveries during ground-
disturbing Project-related activities.

No mitigation measures specific to archaeology exist within the current EIR documents. We recommend
that the mitigation measures detailed below should be undertaken to minimize any potentially significant
impacts in accordance with CEQA.

e During construction grading and site preparation activities, the Contractor shall monitor all
construction activities. In the event that cultural resources (i.e., prehistoric sites, historic
sites, and/or isolated artifacts) are discovered, work shall be halted immediately within 50
feet of the discovery and the Contractor shall inform the Project Manager. A qualified
archaeologist that meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards and Guidelines for
Professional Qualifications in Archacology shall be retained to analyze the significance of
the discovery and recommend further appropriate measures to reduce further impacts on
archaeological resources. Such measures may include avoidance, preservation in place,
excavation, documentation, curation, data recovery, or other appropriate measures.
Facilities Planning & Management shall monitor compliance.

e If, during the course of implementing the project, human remains are discovered, all work
shall be halted immediately within 50 feet of the discovery, the Contractor shall inform the
Project Manager, and the County Coroner must be notified according to Section 5097.98
of the PRC and Section 7050.5 of California’s Health and Safety Code. If the remains are
determined to be Native American, the coroner will notify the Native American Heritage
Commission, and the procedures outlined in CEQA Section 15064.5(d) and (e¢) shall be
followed.

7.2 HISTORIC RESOURCE MITIGATION MEASURES

The Project, as proposed, will result in adverse direct and indirect visual impacts to the Mt. SAC Historic
District and individually eligible Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H). The preferred mitigation approach is
project redesign to avoid demolition of a CEQA historic resource.

e Avoid Demolition, Evaluate Feasible Options
The recommended action for the adverse impact on historic resources and on the Mt. SAC
Historic District due to buildout of the 2015 FMPU and the PEP is revision of the Land
Use Plan to avoid demolition of a CEQA historic resource. An evaluation of feasible
options shall be prepared for CMPCT prior to certification of the Final EIR. The college
shall evaluate whether the impacts on 3CD or 3CB buildings proposed for removal or
demolition in the recommended District may be reduced to Less than Significant. The
alternatives to be considered include: (1) redesign of the 2015 Facility Master Plan Update
to avoid impacting the 3CD or 3CB buildings, (2) redesign of the 2015 Facility Master
Plan Update to reduce the project impacts on 3CD or 3CB buildings to Less than
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Significant, (3) redesign of phases of the project to reduce impacts on 3CD or 3CB
buildings to Less than Significant as more detailed planning for each phase comes up for
review before the Campus Master Plan Coordinating Team (CMPCT), and (4) evaluation
of adaptive reuses of 3CD or 3CB buildings prior to construction. Planning Facilities &
Management shall monitor compliance. The Facilities Planning & Management
Department shall ensure compliance

e Mitigation Measures if No Feasible Alternatives

If project redesign is not feasible to achieve the Project and College’s educational goals
and facility needs, the following mitigation shall be implemented to reduce the significant
impacts on historical resources: (a) HABS Level II History Report for the (1) Mt. SAC
Historic District and (2) Hilmer Lodge Stadium consistent with Historic American
Buildings Survey Guidelines for Historical Reports (National Park Service 2007); (b)
HABS Level II Standard Photography following the Secretary of Interior Standards and
Guidelines for Architectural and Engineering Documentation and HABS specific
guidelines for the Mt. SAC Historic District and Hilmer Lodge Stadium; (c) reproduction
of select existing drawings for each building proposed for demolition or alteration
following HABS Level II guidelines; (d) creation of a interpretative exhibit within Heritage
Hall (HH) including not only the history of Hilmer Lodge Stadium, but the entire historic
district as well, and (e) development of a “Mt. SAC History” section of the campus website.
The Facilities Planning & Management Department shall ensure compliance.

a) HABS Level II Narrative Historical Report

Prior to demolition, removal, or remodeling of any 3CD or 3CB building on
campus, the college shall enlist the services of a qualified architectural historian to
prepare the HABS Narrative Historical Report as well as CA DPR 523 forms.
Documentation through HABS is an important measure because it allows
documentation of the resource before alterations begin. Given the relative historic
significance of the resources, Level Il HABS is the recommended documentation
standard, to be prepared in accordance with the Secretary of Interior Standards
and Guidelines for Architectural and Engineering Documentation and HABS
specific guidelines (http://www.nps.gov/hdp/standards/habsguidelines.htm). A
narrative historical report following the Historic American Buildings Survey
Guidelines for Historical Reports (National Park Service 2007) should be prepared
for the (1) Mt. SAC Historic District and (2) Hilmer Lodge Stadium. The college
shall enlist the services of a qualified architectural historian to prepare the HABS
Narrative Historical Report as well as CA DPR 523 forms. The DPR forms shall
be submitted to the State Office of Historic Preservation (via the SCCIC) for their
records. All other historic documents shall be made available to the public in the
collection of the College’s Learning Technology Center, including: the HABS
Narrative Historical Report, DPR 523 forms, the Historic Resources on the
Campus of Mt San Antonio College, Walnut, California (The Building
Biographer, June 1, 2003) and The Historical Resources Analysis for Five
Buildings at Mount San Antonio College, Los Angeles County, Walnut, California
(Davis 2012), and a copy of this report. Facilities Planning & Management shall
ensure compliance.

b) HABS Level II Large-format Photographs
Prior to demolition, removal or remodeling of any 3CD or 3CB building, the
college shall hire a qualified HABS photographer to provide photo-documentation
for the properties on campus identified as 3CD or 3CB which are proposed for

70 ASM Affiliates, Inc.



7. Mitigation Measures

removal or demolition in the 2012 Facilities Master Plan or 2015 FMP Update.
The photo-documentation shall be made available to the public in the collection of
the College’s Learning Technology Center. The documentation should be done in
accordance with the Guidelines provided in the Photographic Specifications:
Historic American Building Survey, Historic American Engineering Record,
Division of National Register Programs, National Park Service, Western Region.
Facilities Planning & Management shall ensure compliance.

To date, several buildings have already been photographed to HABS Level 11
standards, including the following: 08, 12A, 17, 18, 19B, 20, 27A-C, and 50.

¢) HABS Level II Reproduction of select existing drawings (if available).

Prior to demolition, removal or remodeling of any 3CD or 3CB building, the
college shall prepare archivally stable reproduction of original as-built drawings.
Reproductions of drawings shall be done in accordance with the Secretary of the
Interior's Guidelines for Architectural and Engineering Documentation. Select
existing drawings, where available, may be photographed with large-format
negatives or photographically reproduced on Mylar in accordance with the U.S.
Copyright Act, as amended. Facilities Planning & Management shall ensure
compliance.

d) Establishment of Heritage Hall
To recognize the history of Mt. SAC, part of the facilities for the new Stadium will
include Heritage Hall, an area dedicated to historical interpretation of the history
of the stadium and the college. The interpretative panels could utilize information
from the HABS Level II Narrative Historical Report and large-format
photographic documentation. Facilities Planning & Management shall ensure
compliance.

e) Establishment of a “Mt. SAC History” section on the school’s website
To further recognition of the history of Mt. SAC, a page or series of pages should
be developed for inclusion on the school’s website. This project could be
completed as a multi-disciplinary school project, prepared by students in the
Technology and History departments utilizing the information from the HABS
Level II Narrative Historical Report and large-format photographic
documentation. Facilities Planning & Management shall ensure compliance.

Although the above recommended mitigation measures are recommended by ASM to lessen the significant
adverse impacts, demolition or complete loss of eligibility of a CEQA resource cannot be mitigated to less
than significant. As such, even after the implementation of the mitigation measures, the Project will still
result in a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historic resource pursuant to CEQA Section
21084.1 and a significant direct impact pursuant to CEQA Section 15064.5.
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8. CUMULATIVE IMPACTS

In consideration of cumulative impacts within the APE, several prior Projects have been conducted that
resulted in adverse impacts. The 2003 Facilities Master Plan resulted in the demolition of several
contributing resources to the Mt. SAC Historic District, as identified by Tim Gregory (Gregory 2003). The
2015 Facilities Master Plan resulted in the demolition of several additional contributing resources to the
Mt. SAC Historic District, as identified by Gregory in 2003 and ASM in 2012 (Gregory 2003; Davis 2012).
The Cultural Resources Survey conducted by Applied EarthWorks, Inc. for the current adjacent West Parcel
Solar Project did not identify any impacts to historic resources (Thomas and Smallwood 2014).

As the prior two Facilities Master Plans identified adverse impacts, combined with the currently identified
adverse impacts, the Updated FMP and PEP will result in adverse cumulative impacts to a CEQA historic
resource, specifically, the Mt. SAC Historic District.
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9. CONCLUSION

As a result of this cultural resources report, ASM surveyed 22 potentially new contributing resources to the
Mt. SAC Historic District. Twenty of those are recommended as eligible contributing resources (3CD) to
Mt. SAC Historic District. As the district retains approximately 75 percent of its eligible contributing
resources, ASM recommends that the Mt. SAC Historic District continues to be eligible for the CRHR
under Criterion 1, for the Theme of Education, with a period of significance of 1948-1972. ASM also
identified two individually eligible properties: Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H) eligible under Criterion 1,
for the Themes of Education and Recreation, with a period of significance of 1948-1972; and the
Technology Center (28 A/B) under Criterion 3, for the Theme of Architecture, with a period of significance
of 1971.

The Mt. SAC Historic District, Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H), and the Technology Center (28A/B) are
located within the Project APE. The Mt. SAC Historic District and Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H) are
directly and indirectly impacted by the Project. The demolition of the Hilmer Lodge Stadium (50A-H)
constitutes an adverse direct and indirect visual effect as the loss of individually eligible and contributing
resources to the Mt. SAC Historic District. As such, the Project will result in a substantial adverse change
in the significance of a historic resource pursuant to CEQA Section 21084.1 and a significant direct impact
pursuant to CEQA Section 15064.5.

The preferred mitigation approach is project redesign to avoid these potential impacts. If project redesign
is not feasible, the mitigation measures detailed in Chapter 7 are recommended to minimize the potentially
significant impacts in accordance with CEQA. However, demolition of a CEQA resource cannot be
mitigated to less than significant. As such, even after the implementation of the mitigation measures, the
Project will still result in a significant direct impact pursuant to CEQA Section 15064.5.
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Action taken
Appended records from old Surveys database.
GIS QC
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Report Detail: LA-05644

Identifiers
Report No.:

LA-05644

Other IDs: Type

Cross-refs:

Cellular

Citation information

Author(s):
Year:

Title:
Affliliation:
No. pages:
No. maps:
Attributes:
Inventory size:
Disclosure:
Collections:

General notes

Duke, Curt
2002

Name

Cultural Resource Assessment: Cingular Wireless Facility No. Vy 130-02 Los Angeles County, California

LSA Associates, Inc.

8

Literature search

QC

Associated resources

No. resources:
Has informals:

0

Location information

County(ies):
USGS quad(s):
Address:
PLSS:

Los Angeles
SAN DIMAS

Database record metadata

Entered:
Last modified:

IC actions:

Record status:

Date User
5/5/2008 jay
3/18/2015 agarcia

Date User
5/6/2008 jay
3/18/2015 agarcia

Action taken
Appended records from old Surveys database.
GIS QC
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Report Detail: LA-05646

Identifiers
Report No.:

LA-05646

Other IDs: Type

Cross-refs:

Cellular

Citation information

Author(s):
Year:

Title:
Affliliation:
No. pages:
No. maps:
Attributes:
Inventory size:
Disclosure:
Collections:

General notes

Duke, Curt
2001

Name

Cultural Resource Assessment: Cingular Wireless Facility No. Vy-130-01 Los Angeles County, California

LSA Associates, Inc.

8

Literature search

QC

Associated resources

No. resources:
Has informals:

0

Location information

County(ies):
USGS quad(s):
Address:
PLSS:

Los Angeles
SAN DIMAS

Database record metadata

Entered:
Last modified:

IC actions:

Record status:

Date User
5/5/2008 jay
3/18/2015 agarcia

Date User
5/6/2008 jay
3/18/2015 agarcia

Action taken
Appended records from old Surveys database.
GIS QC

Page 8 of 9

SCCIC 1/12/2016 9:45:47 AM



Report Detail: LA-06262

Identifiers
Report No.:

LA-06262

Other IDs: Type

Cross-refs:

Cellular

Citation information

Author(s):
Year:

Title:
Affliliation:
No. pages:
No. maps:
Attributes:
Inventory size:
Disclosure:
Collections:

General notes

Duke, Curt
2002

Name

Cultural Resource Assessment Cingular Wireless Facility No. Vy 130-04 Los Angeles County, California

LSA Associates, Inc.

16

Literature search

QC

Associated resources

No. resources:
Has informals:

0

Location information

County(ies):
USGS quad(s):
Address:
PLSS:

Los Angeles
SAN DIMAS

Database record metadata

Entered:
Last modified:

IC actions:

Record status:

Date User
5/5/2008 jay
3/19/2015 agarcia

Date User
5/6/2008 jay
3/19/2015 agarcia

Action taken
Appended records from old Surveys database.
GIS QC
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Report List

Report No.  Other IDs Year  Author(s) Title Affiliation Resources
LA-00342 1978 Taylor, Thomas T. Report of the Archaeological Survey of Five 19-000883
Possible Steel Tank Reservoir Sites and Pipe
Routes for the Walnut Valley Water District
LA-00481 1979 Van Horn, David M. Archaeological Survey Report: a Parcel Archaeological Associates,
Located in the City of Walnut in the County of  Ltd.
Los Angeles, California
LA-01268 1983 Mason, Roger D. and Archaeological Survey Report and Records Scientific Resource
Nancy Whitney-Desautels Search on Proposed Revised Tract 32158 in  Surveys, Inc.
the City of Walnut, Los Angeles County, Ca
LA-01346 1984 Brock, James P. Archaeological Assessment Report for Archaeological Advisory
Proposed Sanitary Landfill Expansion Group
Adjacent to the Spadra Landfill Los Angeles
County (140 +/- Total Acres)
LA-02679 1979 Cottrell, Marie G. Focused Draft Environmental Impact Report ~ ARMC
for Via Verde Development Company
Residential Development Tentative Tract
LA-03835 1979 Cottrell, Marie G. Records Search and an Archaeological Archaeological Resource
Survey for the 400 Acre Parcel Designated Management Corp.
South Ranch, City of Walnut, Los Angeles
County, California
LA-05644 Cellular - 2002 Duke, Curt Cultural Resource Assessment: Cingular LSA Associates, Inc.
Wireless Facility No. Vy 130-02 Los Angeles
County, California
LA-05646 Cellular - 2001 Duke, Curt Cultural Resource Assessment: Cingular LSA Associates, Inc.
Wireless Facility No. Vy-130-01 Los Angeles
County, California
LA-06262 Cellular - 2002 Duke, Curt Cultural Resource Assessment Cingular LSA Associates, Inc.

Wireless Facility No. Vy 130-04 Los Angeles
County, California
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Resource List

Primary No.  Trinomial Other IDs Type Age Attribute codes Recorded by Reports
P-19-186869 Resource Name - Mt San Antonio  Building Historic HP15 (Educational 2003 (T. Gregory, The Building
College building); HP41 Biographer)
(Hospital); HP42
(Stadium/sports arena)
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Resource Detail: P-19-186869

Identifying information

Primary No.:
Trinomial:
Name:
Other IDs:

Cross-refs:

Attributes
Resource type:
Age:
Information base:
Attribute codes:
Disclosure:
Collections:
Accession no(s):
Facility:

General notes

P-19-186869

Mt San Antonio College
Type Name
Resource Name Mt San Antonio College

Building

Historic

Other

HP15 (Educational building); HP41 (Hospital); HP42 (Stadium/sports arena)
Unrestricted

Recording events

Affiliation Notes

The Building Biographer

Date Recorder(s)
5/27/2003  T. Gregory

Associated reports

Location information

County:
USGS quad(s):
Address:

PLSS:
UTMs:

Los Angeles

SAN DIMAS

Address City
1100 N Grand Ave Walnut

Assessor's parcel no.

Management status

Database record metadata

Entered:
Last modified:
IC actions:

Record status:

Date User
5/1/2008 jay
7/25/2012 sstjames
Date User
5/1/2008 jay

Action taken
Appended records from Encodent database.

Zip code
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State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #

PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial 19-186869

NRHP Status Code 551

Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 1 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Mt. San Antonio College Campus
P1. Other Identifier:
*P2. Location: [J Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2¢ or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date:1981 T1S ; R9W ; NE Y of NW% of Sec 32 ; M.D.S.B. B.M.
¢. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789

d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 422100 mE/ 3767500 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
The Mount San Antonio College campus occupies 421 acres northeast and southeast of the intersection of Grand Avenue and
Temple Avenue in the City of Walnut. The campus occupies a fairly flat valley between the Puente and San Jose Hills—-low, rolling
grass- and chaparral-covered hills that show signs of increasing urbanization. On clear days, Mount San Antonio is the dominant
landscape feature to the north. The campus consists of at least sixty buildings of varying architectural styles, some of which date
back to the 1930s. The buildings are separated, for the most part, by well-landscaped areas of grass and trees. Vast parking lots
occupy the peripheral areas. Of the sixty buildings, thirteen buildings or clusters of connected buildings contribute to the
historical significance of the campus. Of the thirteen, seven are used for direct educational purposes and six are used for student
or physical plant supportive services.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) Hospital (HP41); Educational Building (HP15);
Stadium/Sports Arena (HP42)

*P4. Resources Present: OBuilding  OStructure OObject OSite E(District OElement of District [OOther (Isolates, etc.)

P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) Egg'a[zfeizrig:i%n of Photo: (View,

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: Eﬂ—!istoric
OPrehistoric [OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:
Mt. San Antonio College
1100 North Grand Avenue
Walnut, CA 91789-1399

*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)

Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer

400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106

*P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

*P11. Report Citation: (Cite survey report and other sources, or enter "none.") None

*Attachments: !;INONE (Z(Location Map &XSketch Map E}éontinuation Sheet [OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record
ElArqhaeoIoglcaI Record KDistrict Record DOlinear Feature Record [IMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
OArtifact Record OPhotograph Record [1 Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary # 1 g - 18 68 6 9

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #
DISTRICT RECORD Trinomial
Page 2 of 20 *NRHP Status Code: 551

*Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder): Mt. San Antonio College Campus

D1. Historic Name: D2. Common Name:

*D3. Detailed Description (Discuss overall coherence of the district, its setting, visual characteristics, and minor features. List all elements of
district.): The Mount San Antonio College campus occupies 421 acres northeast and southeast of the intersection of Grand Avenue
and Temple Avenue in the City of Walnut. The campus occupies a fairly flat area surrounded by low, rolling grass- and
chaparral-covered hills that show signs of increasing urbanization. On clear days, Mount San Antonio is the dominant landscape
feature to the north. The campus consists of at least sixty buildings of varying architectural styles, some of which date back to the
1930s. The buildings are separated, for the most part, by well-landscaped areas of grass and trees. Vast parking lots occupy the
peripheral areas. Thirteen buildings or clusters of connected buildings contribute to the historical significance of the campus and
are documented on separate Primary Record forms. They are: Art Center/Gallery (01); Physical Education Center (03); Campus
Inn (08); Staff Center (10); Classroom Buildings (13, 14N, 145, 15, 16, 17, 18, and 19B); Stadium (50); Information
Technology/Nursing (05); Oden House (12A); Child Development Center South (19A); Family and Consumer Sciences (20); Air
Conditioning (21); Welding (22); Beef Unit (F9).

*D4. Boundary Description (Describe limits of district and attach map showing boundary and district elements.):
The boundary of the district is the same as the boundaries of the college itself, as shown on the attached map.

*D5. Boundary Justification: The significant buildings of the district are spread throughout the campus among other structures
of little or no significance.

*D6. Significance: Theme: Education Area: Los Angeles County

Period of Significance: 1947- Applicable Criteria: A, C (Discuss district's importance in terms of its
historical context as defined by theme, period of significance, and geographic scope. Also address the integrity of the district as a whole.)

A) Brief History of Walnut: The first residents of this area can be traced back to the Gabrielino Indians who were of Shoshoean origin. Walnut
has one recorded site of archaeological significance dating from the era of Native-American habitation. (This site is not on the campus of
Mount San Antonio College.)

The arrival of the Spanish in the area introduced large ranches, the beginnings of agricultural development, and the creation of extensive home-

sites. The first land grants in the Walnut area were those of the Rancho de San Jose (22,340 acres), presented in 1837 to Don Ricardo Vejar and
Don Ygnacio Palomares; the Rancho de los Nogales (4,340 acres), issued in 1840 to Jose de la Cruz Linares; and La Puente Rancho, consisting
of 48,790 acres, issued to John Rowland and William Workman in 1842. All this land had first been used as grazing for the cattle and sheep of
the San Gabriel Mission. (see continuation sheet)

*D7. References (Give full citations including the names and addresses of any informants, where possible.):
Hall, Barbara Ann and Odette Marie Pietezsch Mt. San Antonio College: The First Fifty Years. The College, 1996.
King, William F. The Vintage Years: Our Valley Before 1945. 1975.
Swain, J. G. Walnut Before and After Incorporation in The Historical Volumes and Reference Works, Vol. 11, 1963.
Los Angeles Times
Pomona Valley Historian

*D8. Evaluator: Tim Gregory Date: 5/27/03
Affiliation and Address:  DBA The Building Biographer
400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
DPR 523D (1/95) *Required information



State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI# 1 9 - 1 8 6 8 6 9
CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page 3 of 20 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Mt. San Antonio College Campus
*Recorded by: Tim Gregory *Date: 5/27/03 Iz/Continuation O Update

Jose de la Cruz Linares died in 1846, and his wife had to sell part of their rancho to Ricardo Vejar to help pay her husband’s debts. Vejar’s
home was in the bend of the hills near the springs of the San Jose Creek, which is now known as Spadra, within the city limits of Pomona.
Serving all of the Vejar family’s needs, their adobe consisted of living quarters, a chapel, blacksmith shop, silver working shop, and a stable.
Ricardo Vejar’s adobe served as a social center for the people of the valley in those days. A team change station for the Butterfield Overland
Stage Company was also located near the Vejar home from 1858 until 1861.

A second adobe, located in what is now Walnut’s Lemon Creek Park, has been preserved as one of the City’s most important historical
resources. The William R. Rowland Adobe Redwood Ranch House was designated a point of historical interest by the State of California in
1975. This mixed adobe and redwood structure, built in 1883, served as the home of Rowland’s ranch foreman and is one of the last original
ranch houses in the area.

Walnut originally obtained its name from the Rancho de los Nogales land grant-nogal being the Spanish word for “walnut.” The Rancho itself
had derived its name from the many wild black walnut trees that covered nearby hillsides. The Southern Pacific Railroad came through in 1874,
bringing with it more visitors and potential residents. A stop was established, called the Lemon Station because it was situated on Lemon Street
and because of the many citrus trees then in the area. “Lemon” became the town’s informal name. “Walnut” was not adopted as the
community’s official name until 1912, with the building of a new post office.

Walnut’s first school was established in about 1876, the teacher taking the train back and forth to El Monte every day. After the schoolhouse
burned in 1892, students attended Spadra School. The Lemon School District, which incorporated Walnut, was established in 1893. High
school students had to travel to Pomona or El Monte until La Puente High School was constructed in 1915. In 1884, Pierre Carrey, originally
from France, and his wife Maria settled in Walnut. Carrey, who had worked for William Rowland when the latter was a sheriff, had received
part of his pay in land consisting of forty acres above Valley Bivd. on the south side of La Puente Road and east of Lemon Street. The Carrey
family operated the first Walnut store and post office on Valley Blvd. Other enterprising French emigres, as well as Basques and Italians,
acquired land in the Walnut-Spadra area.

Another historically significant figure, Captain William Banning, son of Phineas Banning, retired to what is now Walnut, transporting there the
Banning Stable that had housed the first Los Angeles- Wilmington stages. Another important landowner was Alvan T. Currier, formerly of
Maine. In 1869, he purchased 2,400 acres between Spadra and Walnut along the Southern Pacific tracks. He was later elected County Sheriff
in 1881 and served as a State Senator beginning in 1898. Currier helped found the Walnut Fruit Growers Association which, in 1906, built the
first packing house to handle both citrus and walnut crops. In would function for the next fifty years. Currier also developed the first reliable
water sources in Walnut when he established seven wells on the southern fork of San Jose Creek. Another important source of water was the
southern branch of the San Jose Creek (sometimes called Walnut Creek).

From the 1880s until just after World War II, the valley’s land was used for farming and cattle-raising. It became known as one of the finest
agricultural areas in the state, particularly for citrus and walnuts. (The first commercial walnut grove was established in 1912, but the industry
had more or less faded by 1940 after many of the trees had succumbed to disease .) Walnut and other neighboring communities remained small
and rural, the only city of any major size being Pomona. Numerous fruit packing houses, the major local industry, were linked with each other

and with the nation’s urban markets by the railroad’s freight lines. Only a narrow paved highway, Valley Boulevard, connected the valley to
Los Angeles.

A pioneer in the pre-World War II establishment of Walnut’s image as a rural retreat was Percy G. Winnett, the founder, with John G. Bullock,
of the Bullocks Wilshire chain. He bought eighty acres in Walnut in the 1930s, turning the hay and grain farm into an equestrian showcase. He
raised thoroughbred racehorses and threw parties, barbeques, and fox hunts.

Immediately following the war, returning G.1.’s unloosed a pent-up demand for housing all over Southern California, and the Walnut area was
no exception. The rural lifestyle of open rolling hills, oranges, and horses began to be supplanted with freeways and housing tracts. Fearing
they might be swallowed up by other fast-growing neighboring cities, the citizens of Walnut voted to incorporate in 1958 with about 7.5 miles

of territory and about one thousand residents. The eastern boundary of the new city was the easterly edge of the Mt. San Antonio College
campus.

By 1990, Walnut, with a population of 29,105 (a 133% increase over 1980), was the second-fastest-growing city in Los Angeles County. It was

also quickly becoming a multiethnic community, with Asian Americans and Latinos constituting about 60% of the population.
(See continuation sheet)

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information



State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI# 9-186869
CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial 1

Page 4 of 20 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Mt. San Antonio College Campus
*Recorded by: Tim Gregory *Date: 5/27/03 ® Continuaton O Update

B) Brief History of the Campus of Mount San Antonio College (to 1956): In 1920, the State of California purchased 800 acres in Walnut--
adjacent Lots 6 and 7 of the C. M Wright Tract on the eastern edge of the original La Puente Rancho. The land had been owned by the Stern
Realty Company since 1914. Lot 7 was transferred to the Regents of the University of California and would become the future site of the
Pomona campus of California Polytechnic University.

In 19135, the state Legislature had passed a bill that called for a comprehensive study of “feeble-mindedness.” A committee studied the issue and
recommended the creation of an institution for the insane in Southern California. In March 1921, the Pacific Colony was founded in Walnut on
the above-mentioned Lot 6 (about 388 acres). Nineteen male patients were transferred to it from the state facility in Sonoma. However, the site
did not have an adequate water supply and closed in January 1923. The state reopened the Pacific Colony in May 1927 on Pomona Blvd., a
facility that is now known as the Lanterman Developmental Center.

In the early 1930s, the State Narcotic Hospital occupied the Lot 6 site and a number of still-extant buildings were constructed. During World
War I1, the facility was leased to the United States Government as the location of a U.S. Army Hospital, and later a U.S. Naval Hospital. There
were eventually 9 permanent buildings and 99 temporary barracks-like structures spread over the site.

In February 1945, the Pomona Chamber of Commerce adopted a resolution requesting the state to make the hospital site (which was scheduled
for closure in 1946) the temporary quarters for a new junior college in Eastern Los Angeles County. The rising population had made the area’s
only junior college in Pomona woefully too small to meet the demand for post-secondary education, especially among returning older students.
In October 1945, the California State Board of Education was petitioned by four school districts—Pomona, Covina, Puente, and Bonita—for a
junior college to serve the combined areas. In December of that year, voters approved the establishment of a new junior college district which
would incorporate the old Pomona district.

A two-year lease was negotiated with the state for use of the U.S. Naval Hospital site. It was an ideal location, in the center of the new district,
seven miles east of Puente and seven miles west of Pomona. Also, it would be a physically independent campus, not sharing a site with a high
school, which the majority of junior colleges did in those days. The perennial problem of obtaining a guaranteed flow of water to the campus
was solved when an agreement was reached with the Metropolitan Water District in December 1947.

The almost impossible task of organizing a junior college from scratch began in earnest on July 1, 1946. Twenty-three faculty members were
hired initially. Dr. George H. Bell, the newly hired president, and his family moved into the former hospital director’s house (now known as the
Staff Center—Building 10), which was then surrounded with gardens. Tom Oden, the chief of maintenance, and his family lived in what is now
the Oden House (Building 12A). Some naval personnel remained on the site until the complete changeover from hospital uses was
accomplished. What is now the Information Building (Building 05) housed the first administrative offices. It had served as the narcotics
treatment center of the hospital and had bars on the windows, special therapy rooms, and jacuzzi baths. The driveway to the campus was lined
with camphor trees and there was a small orange grove just south of Building 05.

Instruction on the new campus began in September 1946, many of the first 682 registered students attending class in the non-air-conditioned old
barracks buildings, connected by clay and weed-choked paths. Apple- and orange-crates were used for furnishings until war surplus furniture
could be purchased. Money remained tight during the first year or two of the college’s existence. The old state and military buildings had not
been maintained, and Mr. Oden was credited with keeping everything going by patching and repairing where possible, often at his own expense.
Nevertheless, a tremendous amount of financial and volunteer time was donated by faculty, students (the average age was 25), administrators,
and committed members of the community, creating the legendary “spirit of Mt. San Antonio College” to make it all work.

Barbara Ann Hall and Odette Marie Pietzsch in their history of the college entitled Mt. San Antonio College: the First Fifty Years vividly
describe the college’s early setting:

Being surrounded by foothills, the college supported an abundance of wildlife. Many native birds nested in the swamp at the south
edge of the property. Occasional road runners, coyotes and skunks roamed the grounds. Above the area where the stadium was to be
constructed, a bob-tailed bobcat was reported. Several deer grazed near the east boundary of the campus. Large tarantulas burrowed

into the hillsides and roamed the campus during their migration, and rattlesnakes basked in the sun. Oden reported killing a
rattlesnake about three feet long (Hall 8).

Until 1948, the campus was still considered a temporary site. While the state Department of Mental Health was considering other uses for the
445-acre leased property, a building program could not be instituted. Finally, in March 1947, a bond election was conducted. The amount
requested, $1.75 million, was to be used to purchase land and construct the first classrooms and support facilities specifically designed for Mt.
San Antonio College. The bond issue received an overwhelming approval of almost 11 to 1. At the first commencement exercises in June
1947, word was received from Governor Warren that the state had decided to sell the former hospital land to the college. The sales price turned
out to be $270,000. (see continuation sheet)

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information
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In May 1947, architect Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr., was hired to create a campus master plan and to design the first real college buildings. Mr.
Kennedy would be retained as the campus architect until 1955. (Please see Appendix 4 for a biographical essay on Mr. Kennedy and his career.)
The first buildings of which Mr. Kennedy supervised the design were the stadium, field houses, shops, gymnasium, and library. With the
exception of the shop buildings, all roofs were to be of mission tile. Form was to follow function, so that what took place in the buildings was
to dictate the design. Faculty, recognized as specialists in their field, were to have a great deal to say in the lay-out of the academic buildings.

In November 1947, the board of trustees approved the plans for a new football stadium. The natural bowl between the hills in the southeast
corner of the property adjoining Cal Poly was the selected site. Only the west side of the bowl was scheduled to have bleachers, to seat 11,000.
The stadium was planned to have a state-of-the-art cinder track. Built at a cost of $100,000, the stadium, said to be the largest such facility in
the San Gabriel Valley, was dedicated by State Representative Richard M. Nixon in 1948.

Anticipating a greatly expanded student body of 2,000 by 1957, Mt. San Antonio College embarked upon another building campaign. In March
1950, a financing election was held, but this time it was a pay-as-you-go tax override rather than a bond issue. It carried, 1,220 to 828.

Dr. Bell retired from the college’s presidency in 1956. It was at this time his home was converted to the Faculty and Staff Center.

C) Summary of Significance: The significance of the Mt. San Antonio College Campus district is based on both Criteria A and C. The
evolution of the site from the Pacific Colony of 1927, to the State Narcotic Hospital of the 1930s, to a U.S. Naval Hospital during World War I1,
and finally to a community college campus in 1946 is documented by surviving buildings from each era. Many of the post-war buildings were
designed between 1947 and 1955 by Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr., an architect of regional renown in the areas of residential, school, and church
design. Mr. Kennedy also prepared the campus master plan of 1947.

Thirteen buildings or clusters of buildings contribute to the historical significance of the district. These are recorded on their own Primary
Record forms. The exteriors of all these significant buildings have good to excellent integrity, meaning that the physical characteristics that
existed during their period of significance are still intact and have not been removed, substantially altered, or lost due to neglect, etc.

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information
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State of California— The Resources Agency Primary # )

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI# 19-186869
SKETCH MAP Trinomial

Page 7 of 20 Resource Name or #: Mt. San Antonio College Campus

*Drawn By: The College *Date: 5/27/03
SEE ATTACHED

NOTE: Include bar scale and north arrow.
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State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # 1 9 - 1 8 6 8 6 9

PR'MARY RECORD Trinomial

NRHP Status Code 5D1
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 8 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Art Center/Gallery

P1. Other Identifier: Building 1 B/C; Art Center West, Mt. San Antonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date: 1981 T ; R ; s of Ya of Sec ; M.D. B.M.
c. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789
d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 422300 mE/ 3767540 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
This is an inter-connected 13,200-square-foot complex of three one- and two-story buildings of Spanish Colonial Revival style. The
basically rectangular buildings have plaster walls, multi-paned metal sash (some having been replaced), and gabled tile roofs of
low pitch. The central building has return gables. A newer mosaic occupies the east gable-end of the central building. Stucco
chimneys with arched caps punctuate the roofs of the north and south buildings. Arcades sheltered by flat roofs supported by
brick piers and metal posts link the buildings and run along their side walls. The north sides of the central and northerly
buildings have large studio-type multi-paned windows. The northerly building extends further east than the others and has
eight-paned casement windows on both the north and south sides of the extension.

The north and south buildings of the complex were probably designed by the State of California in 1931 as part of the old state
narcotics hospital that once occupied the College site. As such, these parts of the complex are the oldest still-extant structures on
the campus. The central building, a rear two-story extension of the north building, and the connecting arcades appear to have
been designed around 1947 by campus architect Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr., when the rest of the campus was expanded. The
complex is surrounded by mature landscaping and low brick walls with metal railings. The integrity of the buildings is good.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) Educational Building (HP15)
*P4. Resources Present: Eﬁuilding OStructure OObject OSite ODistrict D‘éement of District OOther (Isolates, etc.)

P5b. Description of Photo: (View,
date, accession #)

East side, looking west 6/5/02

P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.)

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: Bflistoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:
Mt. St. Antonio College
1100 North Grand Avenue
Walnut, CA 91789-1399
*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)
Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer
400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
*P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

b

e e

et L

*Attachments: ONONE E{oggion Map E¥Sketch Map I3€ontinuati0n Sheet [OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record

OArchaeological Record istrict Record [OLinear Feature Record [OMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
OArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # 1 9 N ]_ 8 6 8 6 9

PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial

NRHP Status Code 5D1
Other Listings

Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 9 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Physical Education Center/Gymnasium
P1. Other Identifier: Building 03; Mt, San Antonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication EX'Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: Date: T R H Ya of Yaof Sec  ;M.D. B.M.
c. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789

d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 422160 mE/ 3767300 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
This two-story basically rectangular building of a contemporary neo-Romanesque style has a gabled tiled roof, plaster walls, and
steel sash. Three louvered vents appear in the gable-ends on the east and west sides. These sides also each have eight windows
having transom tops and bottoms with six panes of stationary glass in between. Brick detailing appears at the corners of the
building with courses of counter-laid brick. Intaglios of figures engaged in sports activities have been cut into the second-floor
exterior northerly wall. Below them is a one-story flat-roofed brick-walled extension with small-paned windows high on the
walls. The main entrance is centered in this wall recessed under a flat-roofed canopy supported by pairs of slender steel poles.
The entrance consists of three pairs of double-doors evenly spaced, each with an upper glass panel and six rectangular-paned
stationary transoms above. There are shed-roofed brick-walled extensions of the building on both its southeast and southwest
corners. Brick detailing also appears around each of the two door openings on the south side as well as on the balustrades of the
parallel staircases leading up to them.

This 22,921-square-foot building, designed in 1950 by campus architect Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr., is the largest still-extant
structure from the campus’ earliest years. It was built in a style that blends the Mediterranean architecture prescribed in the
campus’ original general plan with more “modern” school design concepts. It represents a departure from architect Kennedy's
usual output. Integrity is good.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) Educational Building (HP15)
*P4. Resources Present: uilding OStructure OObject OSite DODistrict Délement of District [OOther (Isolates, etc.)

P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) P, Desc.nptlon of Photo: (View,
Whole box: 3.5x 5 date, accession #) North and east

sides, looking southwest 6/5/02

*P6. Date Cpnstructed/Age and
Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:
Mt. San Antonio College
1100 North Grand Avenue
Walnut, CA 91789-1399
*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)
Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer
400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
*P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

g YL e T R - ilding, Structure, and Object Record

‘UArcnaeoiogical Record MDistrict Record Olinear Feature Record [OMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
OArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION weig  19-186869
PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial
NRHP Status Code 5D1
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 10 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Campus Inn
P1. Other Identifier: Building 08; College Dining Hall; Mt. San Antonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date: 1981 T ; R ; Ya of s of Sec ; M.D. B.M.
c. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789

d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 422120 mE/ 3767560 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
This is a basically rectangular one-story building in the Spanish Colonial Revival style with a tile roof, stucco walls, and steel sash.
Its recessed main entrance on the southerly fagade is approached by a side staircase with wrought-iron railings. Tall double
casement windows with multi-panes flank the main entrance. A paved area outside the main entrance is used for outdoor dining.
Another entrance into a small wing on the west end of the front facade is sheltered by a shed-like roof supported by a single
stucco pier and is approached by a perpendicular staircase. There is a chimney at the west end of the building. On the east side
there is a door to the deli recessed on the south end; a door to the café recessed centrally and flanked by two large casement
windows like those in the front; and two large recessed windows on the north end flanked by stucco engaged pilasters. Chevron-
shaped venting appears in the gable-end above these windows. The north side of the building has two sets of double wood-
paneled doors. The west side of the building has been significantly altered.

This building was designed by the State of California in 1941 and has served as a social gathering center for all three past and
present tenants of the site: two hospitals and the school. Although the northerly section has been somewhat altered, the general
integrity of the building is good.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) Community Center/Social Hall (HP13)

*P4. Resources Present: uilding OStructure OObject OSite ODistrict lement of District OOther (Isolates, etc.)
- . s . P5b. Description of Photo: (View,
P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) :
Whole box: 3.5x 5 date, accession #)

South side, looking northwest
6/5/02

*P6. Date Caonstructed/Age and
Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:
Mt. San Antonio College
1100 East North Grand Avenue
Walnut, CA 91789-1399
*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)
Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer
400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
*P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

*Attachments: CONONE El-r.foglgon Map [@Sketch Map Continuation Sheet OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record
DOArchaeological Record istrict Record OLinear Feature Record DOMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
OArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary # 8 6 8 6 9
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # 1 9 = 1

PR'MARY RECORD Trinomial

NRHP Status Code 5D1
Other Listings

Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 11 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Staff Center

P1. Other Identifier: Building 10; Faculty ter; Mt. San Antonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date:1981 T ; R ; Ya of Y of Sec ; M.D. B.M.
c. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789
d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 422060 mE/ 3767480 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
This basically T-shaped one-and-two-story building is in the Spanish Colonial Revival style. It has a gabled tile roof, stucco walls, and wood sash.
Tiled venting appears in the gable-ends. The front (northerly) facade has a large multi-paned double-casement window positioned centrally in the
wall to the east of the front door. It has a projecting canopy made of stucco and is protected by a wrought-iron grille. The front entrance consists
of a recessed arched wood-paneled door with a an elongated glass panel and a decorative tile surround, protected by its own shed-like tile roof
supported by scrolled wood brackets. Wrought-iron light fixtures appear on both sides of the entrance porch with has a tiled floor and is
approached by tiled steps. A cut-out plaster grille covers a recessed window on the easterly end of the wall. On the second floor above the large
window are two French doors on the second floor that share a wrought-iron balcony. A pair of small casements are placed east of the French
doors. The one-story west side of the house features a stepped chimney flanked by elongated multi-paned casement windows. The south side of
this west wing has a double door centered in it which is flanked by arched multi-paned windows and is surmounted by a fanlight in a similar
style. There is another set of double doors perpendicular to it on the west side of the “T” at the rear of the house which is approached by tiled

steps with a wrought-iron railing. These doors are flanked by large windows that have a stationary pane in the center with four-paned casements
to each side.

This 3,769-square-foot house was originally built by the State of California in 1931 as a residence for the director of the state narcotics hospital and
was later used by the directors of the military hospitals that once occupied the site. It was also the home of the College’s first president. Its

integrity is moderately good, but it has been somewhat altered by blocked-up or replaced windows and by a non-sympathetic addition on the
southeast corner.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (List gitributes and codes) Single Family Property (HP2) 4
*P4. Resources Present: uilding OStructure OObject OSite [ODistrict lement of District OOther (Isolates, etc.)
P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) PSb. Description of Photo: (View,

date, accession #)
North side, looking southeast
6/5/02

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:
Mt. San Antonio College
1100 North Grand Avenue
Walnut, CA 91789-1399
*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)
Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer
400 E, California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
*P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

*P11. Report Citation: (Cite survey report and other sources, or enter "none.") None

*Attachments: CONONE Erécati n Map Bﬁ(etch Map Mtinuaﬁon Sheet [OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record

OArchaeological Record istrict Record [OLinear Feature Record [OMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
DOArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):
DPR 523A (1/95)

*Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary # 9 -
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # ]. 1 8 6 8 6 9

PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial

NRHP Status Code 5D1
Other Listings

Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 12 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Biological Sciences; Liberal Arts; Business Education Classrooms
P1. Other Identifier: Buildings 13, 14N, 145,15, 16, 17, 18, 19B; Mt. San Antonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date: 1981 T : R s Vs of /s of Sec ; M.D. B.M.
c. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789

d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 423880 mE/ 3767500 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
The eight long, one-story rectangular buildings in this classroom complex are designed in a neo-Spanish Colonial Revival style and are stair-
stepped up their hillside site. They have gabled tiled roofs, stucco walls, chevron-shaped venting in the gable-ends (although there are some
older-looking tile venting in places on the west ends), and continuous flat-roofed outdoor passageways, supported by brick piers and steel
columns, on the southerly sides onto which the classroom and faculty office doors face. The northerly sides of the buildings have bands of tall
multi-paned (mixed transom and fixed) windows that look out onto landscaping planted between the buildings. Each of the east ends of the
buildings has a band of four two-paned windows high on the wall. The mid-points of some of the buildings are connected by covered
passageways placed perpendicularly to them.

This complex was the historic academic center of the campus, its buildings among the first to be specifically designed to reflect the needs of one
of California’s first post-war colleges. Built over a period of four years as funds became available, they were designed as a single master-
planned unit. In February 1976, Los Angeles Times columnist Jack Smith described his discovery of this tile-roofed complex “was like coming
upon an unexpected village in the Italian countryside...low buildings on the west slope of the greening hills between the San Gabriel and
Pomona Valleys.” The lay-out reflected the emerging, rather revolutionary philosophy of educational architecture espoused by the designer
Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr. It allowed for the introduction of as much natural north light as possible and the opening up of both sides of the
classroom to an outside environment of landscaped courts rather than the traditional practice of enclosing the entrances within an interior
hallway. The buildings show fairly good integrity, but air-conditioning equipment was later installed in an insensitive manner and detracts from
the appearance of the westerly ends of the buildings.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) Educational Building (HP15)

*P4. Resources Present: dBunidtng OStructure OObject OSite ODistrict DE/ement of District [OOther (Isolates, etc.)
P5b. Description of Photo: (View,
date, accession #)

Bldg. 14 in foreground, looking
south 6/5/02

*P6. Date ;znstructedmge and

Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

P5a. Photo or Drawmg (Photo required for buildings, structure
WWihale b 4

*P7. Owner and Address:
Mt. San Antonio College
1100 North Grand Avenue
Walnut, CA 91789-1399
*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)
Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer
400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
“P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

*P11. Report Citation: (Cite survey report and other sources, or enter "none.") None

*Attachments: ONONE oggon Map MSketch Map Eﬁntinuation Sheet [Building, Structure, and Object Record
DOArchaeological Record istrict Record [OlLinear Feature Record OMilling Station Record [Rock Art Record
OArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION Rtk 19-186869
CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page 12A of 20 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Biological Sciences, etc.

*Recorded by: Tim Gregory *Date: 5/27/03 O Continuation O Update

Building 16 in foreground, looking northwest 6/5/02

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information



State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI# 1 9 - 1 8 6 8 6 9
CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page 12B of 20 *Resource Name or # Biological Sciences, etc.

*Recorded by: Tim Gregory *Date: 5/27/03 O Continuation 0O Update

1) Building 14, north side, looking southwest 6/5/02
2) Building 14, north side, looking southeast  6/5/02

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information



State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # 1 9 - 1 8 6 8 6 9
PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial
NRHP Status Code 5D1
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 13 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Stadium
P1. Other Identifier: Building 50; Mt. San ;ntonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date:1981 T ; R ; Ya of s of Sec ; M.D. B.M.
¢. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789

d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 423220 mE/ 3767340 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
The stadium consists of two raked concrete seating areas facing each other on the west and east sides of an oval track made of
composite material with grass in the center. Each seating area has rows of bleacher-like benches, broken into six sections by seven
stairway-aisles. A press-box with glass and partly-open walls is situated at the top of the west side of the stadium and, above
this, are four tall steel-lattice columns surmounted by banks of lights. Similar banks of lights appear on the east side of the
stadium. Adjacent to the seating areas to the south on both the west and east sides are one-story flat-roofed utility buildings made

of concrete block. A manual scoreboard appears on the north end of the stadium beyond which is a park-like landscaped area and
a view of the hills,

Designed as part of the campus master plan in 1948 by Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr., this is the largest such stadium in the San
Gabriel Valley and was considered state-of-the-art when dedicated in 1948 by then-State Representative Richard M. Nixon. The
annual amateur U.S. track and field meet is held at the stadium, bringing it national attention. It has been a historical landmark
over the last 54 years for the campus and the surrounding community. Integrity is good.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (L:sntgttributes and codes) Stadium/Sports Arena (HP42)
*P4. Resources Present: uilding OStructure OObject OSite DODistrict lement of District OOther (Isolates, etc.)
P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) PSb. Description of Photo: (View,

S date, accession #)
Whole box: 3. . .
O Westerly seating area, looking

northwest 6/5/02

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:
Mt. San Antonio College
1100 North Grand Avenue
Walnut, CA 91789-1399
*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)
Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer
400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
*P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

*Attachments: CONONE Iﬂﬁncati n Map IS'S/ketch Map Eﬁontinuation Sheet [OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record

OArchaeological Record istrict Record [OlLinear Feature Record [OMiling Station Record [DORock Art Record
DOArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):
DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # 19-186869

PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial

NRHP Status Code 5D}
Other Listings

Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 14 of 20 “Resource Name or #: Information Technology/Nursing

P1. Other Identifier: Buildings 05 and 05A,Mt. San Antonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date:1981 T ; R ; Ya of Yaof Sec  ;M.D. B.M.
c. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789
d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 422180 mE/ 3767540 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
This is a U-shaped building with a hipped tiled roof and stucco walls designed in a modern interpretation of Spanish Colonial Revival. Metal
cupolas with finial tops appear on the east end of the roof and at the northwest corner of the building. Small steel casement windows, each with
six panes, are positioned in groups of twos and threes on the west end of the south facade. Windows on the east end are larger and double-hung,
but also arranged in groups of twos and threes. Tapered stucco chimneys pierce the ridge-line of the roof in several places. The entrance porch is
located easterly of the central point on the building’s southerly fagade. Its hipped tiled roof is supported by four large square stucco posts. The
southern section of a stepped-back addition on the west end of the building appears to be newer than the rest. A solid door with a molding
surround appears on the easternmost end of the south facade. Building 5A was apparently built onto the rear of the older structure at a later date.
Its gable-ends have chevron-shaped venting. There is a square brick-detailed bay with a multi-paned window on its west end. An outdoor
passage running along the addition’s southern fagade (which faces the northern facade of the older building) is sheltered by a slanted tile roof
supported by stucco piers. Still clearly visible on the east end of the north fagade of the original building is a molded arch recessed under which is

an entrance porch with a southerly wooden door with artistically arranged metal studs. An entrance into the building from the west side of the
porch has been plastered over.

Designed in 1941 by the State of California and probably added to by architect Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr., during the campus expansion program
of 1947, this 8,890-square-foot building was originally used as a treatment center for narcotics addicts and later as the campus’ first administration
building. Itis of interest because of its early uses and its dominant siting on the campus. Integrity is good.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) Educational Building (HP15)

*P4. Resources Present: uilding OStructure OObject OSite DODistrict Géement of District OOther (Isolates, etc.)
. . P5b. Description of Photo: (View,
P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) :
Whole box: 3.5 x 5 date, accession #)

South side looking northwest
6/5/02

*P6. Date Cgnstructed/Age and
Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:
Mt. San Antonio College
1100 North Grand Avenue
Walnut, CA 91789-1399
*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)
Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer
400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
ki *P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
iR *P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

el L P

DIJ -
'Attacnients: ONONE ocation Map [@Sketch Map ontinuation Sheet OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record

OArchaeological Record istrict Record OLinear Feature Record [OMilling Station Record ORock Art Record
DArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # 1 9 - 1 8 6 8 6 9
PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial
NRHP Status Code 5D}
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 15 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Oden House
P1. Other Identifier: Building 12A; Custodial Center; Mt. San Antonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication &Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date:1981 T ; R F Ya of s of Sec ; M.D. B.M.
¢. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789

d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 423980 mE/ 3767680 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
This is an L-shaped, 2,153-square-foot Spanish Colonial Revival cottage with a gabled tiled roof, stucco walls, and single and double wood
casement windows, each side of the casement having four panes. Vents, consisting of a triangular arrangement of six roofing tiles, appear in the
gable-ends. The front door, with an ornate wooden screen, is recessed on the east end of the westerly leg of the “L”. It is approached by a flight of
concrete steps with a wrought-iron railing. A stucco chimney, capped with an arch, appears on the west end of the house. There is a small wing
that juts out at the northeast corner of the building. It has a cut-out plaster grille over a recessed window on the west end of its south facade.

Although this building’s official construction date is 1949, there are historical references to the college’s first maintenance supervisor having
moved into it as early as 1947. However, its architecture is very similar to those of other buildings on campus that date from the early 1930s,
which means it was probably built during the site’s earlier use as a hospital. If 5o, it would have been designed by the State of California as one of
the two original residences on the grounds. Integrity is good, although some window openings have been stuccoed over. There is some physical
evidence that the building may have been moved from its original location.

Adjacent to the northeast is a square garage building with stucco walls and a pyramidical tiled roof topped with a round-roofed hexagonal
cupola. The roof's overhanging eaves are supported by molded beam-ends. Two large vehicle openings on the south side have been plastered
over, but the concrete driveway apron remains. On the east side, a utility door on the south end and a window opening on the north end have

also been plastered over. A band of newer steel sash windows appears between them. On the west side of the building are a newer utility door
and a pair of steel windows.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (ngm‘ibutes and codes) Single Family Property (HP2)
*P4. Resources Present: uilding OStructure OObject OSite ODistrict E‘élement of District [OOther (Isolates, etc.)

P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) dP:t: . a'g::s';gﬁg;‘ of Photo: (View,
PR — West and south sides, looking

northeast

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:

Mt. San Antonio College

1100 North Grand Avenue

Walnut, CA 91789-1399
*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)

Tim Gregory DBA The Building

Biographer

400 E. California Blvd., #3
_ . Pasadena, CA 91106
..... — ™ *P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

*P11. Report Citation: (Cite survey repo : o s e.")

*Attachments: CONONE Dﬁ}cati n Map Dékatch Map mﬁnuation Sheet [OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record
DArchaeological Record istrict Record [OlLinear Feature Record [IMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
DOArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95)

*Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # 1 9 - 1 8 6 8 6 9

PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial
NRHP Status Code 5D}
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 16 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Child Development Center South

P1. Other Identifier: Building 19A; Nurse hool; Mt. San Antonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication nrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date:1981 T ; R ; Ya of s of Sec ; M.D. B.M.
c. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789
d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 423960 mE/ 3767460 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
This is a basically flat-roofed, small home-like building of 1,686 square feet in the shape of an “L.” Designed in a contemporary
style, it has deep eaves with exposed rafter-tails, metal casement and fixed windows, and brick walls on its east and southeast
sides and board-and-batten walls on its west, north, and southwest sides. The main entrance to the building is on the south facade
where the southerly projecting leg of the “L” begins. The entry porch is protected by the projecting roof of the wing, supported by
a single wooden post. The play area at the easterly rear of the building is situated under a projecting part of the roof.

Built in 1952 and designed by campus architect Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr., this is one of the earlier structures built especially for

the college, probably funded by the second financing election of 1950, It is of some historical interest, because the construction of a
nursery school on the campus would have been a rather revolutionary concept in 1952. It has good integrity.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) Educational Building (HP15)

*P4. Resources Present: uilding OStructure OObject OSite ODistrict Béement of District OOther (Isolates, etc.)
- : o - P5b. Description of Photo: (View,
P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) 4
Whole box: 3.5 x 5 date, accession #)

South side, looking northwest
6/5/02

*P6. Date mc:znstructodmge and
Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:
Mt. San Antonio College
1100 North Grand Avenue
Walnut, CA 91789-1399
*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)
Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer
400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
*P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

——
*Attachments: ONONE [tocation Map [ESketch Map mvumumreese.. _ OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record
DArchaeological Record [District Record [OlLinear Feature Record OMiiling Station Record [ORock Art Record

OArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # 1 9-18 6869
PR'MARY RECORD Trinomial '
NRHP Status Code 5D}
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 17 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Family and Consumer Sciences
P1. Other Identifier: Building 20; Homemaking 2; Langdon Hall; Mt. San Antonio College
*P2. Location: OO0 Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date: 1981 T ; R H Ya of Y of Sec ; M.D. B.M.
c¢. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789

d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 423880 mE/ 3767410 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
A1 Va-story classroom complex designed in a contemporary style with a flat roof, an outdoor hallway with a roof supported by
thin metal poles, and solid classroom doors bordering the hallway on the south side. Bands of painted-over transom windows in
groups of three, separated by pilasters, appear above the hallway roof, each window having eight panes. The north side, with a
wall of mixed stucco and vertical siding, has three bands of tall transom windows, each with ten panes. A metal plaque mounted
at the west end of the south fagade reads: “Langdon Hall/dedicated to the memory of Herbert G. Langdon/founder-trustee-
friend/of /Mt. San Antonio College.” The building has a stripped-down industrial look, but its open layout is similar to other
more traditionally styled classroom structures on the campus.

This 7,095-square-foot building was designed in 1948 by the campus architect Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr. It is one of the three
oldest still-extant buildings designed specifically for the new college. Its contemporary style was unusual, since Spanish Colonial
Revival was the prevalent style for other campus structures that were built beginning just one year later. It is reminiscent of the
elementary schools that the architect was designing at that time for many Southern California school districts. Integrity is good,
except for deferred maintenance and the evidence that a bay on the west end of the north facade has been filled in with siding and
newer windows.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (Liggnributes and codes) Educational Building (HP15)
*P4. Resources Present: uilding OStructure OObject OSite ODistrict ﬂéement of District OOther (Isolates, etc.)

P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) PSb. Description of Photo: (View,
Whole box: 3.5x 5 date, accession #)

West and south sides, looking
northeast 6/5/02

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:

Mt. San Antonio College

1100 North Grand Avenue

Walnut, CA 91789-1399

*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)

Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer

400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
*P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10.  Survey Type: (Describe)
T Reconnaissance survey as part of
T R ey e campus master planning

*Attachments: CONONE Bfogag‘on Map Eb(ketch Map Ed)ntinuation Sheet [OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record
OArchaeological Record istrict Record [OlLinear Feature Record [OMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
DOArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information



State of California— The Resources Agency Primary # ‘] 9 - 1 8 6 8 6 9
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # )

PR'MARY RECORD Trinomial

NRHP Status Code 5D}
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 18 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Air Conditioning Building

P1. Other Identifier: Building 21; Shop Builging; Mt. San Antonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication nrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date: 1981 T ; R H Ya of . of Sec ; M.D. B.M.
c. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91689
d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 423880 mE/ 3767370 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
This is a plain, 1 ¥2-story flat-roofed rectangular building of 7,205 square feet designed in a contemporary style of form following
function. Its westerly side is plain stucco with a flat-roofed outdoor passageway along the entire fagade (which links it with
Building 20), the roof of which is roof supported by slender metal poles. The northerly facade has bands of continuous steel
transom multi-paned windows, each with 27 panes. The southerly fagade consists of a solid wall onto which open solid classroom
doors. The outdoor hallway that runs along this facade is sheltered by a continuation of the flat roof of the west facade. Bands of
eight-panedwindows, arranged in groups of three separated by pilasters, appear above the hallway roof. These windows have all
been painted over and are partially obscured by the ducts of a later-added air-conditioning system.

This building was designed and built in 1948 by the campus architect Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr. An addition with walls of
corrugated-metal and brick has been added to the east end of the building. The original building has fairly good integrity despite
evidence of deferred maintenance.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (Li;gttributes and codes) Educational Building (HP15) {
*P4. Resources Present: uilding OStructure OObject OSite ODistrict Element of District OOther (Isolates, etc.)
P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) PSb. Description of Photo: (View,

. date, accession #)
Whole box: 3. .
ole box: 3.5 x 5 North and west sides, looking

southeast 6/5/02

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:
Mt. San Antonio College
1100 North Grand Avenue
Walnut, CA 91789-1399
*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)
Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer
400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
*P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

2 survey report and other sources, or enter “none.") None

*Attachments: CONONE E{ocati n Map B§<etch Map m&:ntinuation Sheet OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record

OArchaeological Record istrict Record OLinear Feature Record [OMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
DOArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # 9 N 1 8 6 8 6 9
PRIMARY RECORD Tinomial 19 © -
NRHP Status Code 5D}
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 19 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Welding Building

P1. Other Identifier: Building 22; Weldirgﬁhop; Mt. San Antonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date:1981 T ; R ; Ya of Yeof Sec  ;M.D. B.M.
c. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789
d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 423860 mE/ 3767340 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
This is a 6,419-square-foot two-story square utilitarian building designed in a contemporary style. It has a flat roof, steel sash, and
stucco walls, On the west (front) side are bands of windows on each floor —9 panes each on the first floor and 12 panes each on
the second floor. The north side has a band of three 20-paned transom windows on the west end of the second floor and a band of
nine taller windows, each with 44 panes, on the east end that covers both floors. The rear (east) side of the building was once open
but is now covered with movable sections of vertical wood siding. Large metal horizontal louvers cover all the windows on the
south side of the building,

Built in 1948, this building was designed by campus architect Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr. Integrity is good.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (Liatgﬂributes and codes) Educational Building (HP15)
*P4. Resources Present: uilding DOStructure OObject OSite ODistrict EElement of District  COther (Isolates, etc.)

: . : R P5b. Description of Photo: (View,
date, accession #)

West and north sides, looking
southeast 6/5/02

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:
Mt. San Antonio College
1100 North Grand Avenue
Walnut, CA 91789-1399

*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)

Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer

400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106

*P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

*P11. Report Citation: (Cite survey report and other sources, or enter "none.") None

*Attachments: CONONE Eﬁ)c;g‘en Map B§<etch Map E‘éntinuation Sheet [OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record
OArchaeological Record istrict Record [OLinear Feature Record [OMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
DOArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # 1 9 - ]_ 8 6 8 6 9
PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial
NRHP Status Code 5D}
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 20 of 20 *Resource Name or #: Beef Unit
P1. Other Identifier: Building F9; Mt. San Antonio College
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: Los Angeles
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Dimas Date:1981 T ; R . Ya of Yaof Sec  ;M.D. B.M.
c. Address: 1100 North Grand Avenue City: Walnut Zip: 91789

d. UTM: Zone: 11 ; 423620 mE/ 3767180 mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate)

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)
The Beef Unit consists of a barn and an attached feed shed with a combined square footage of 2,301. Both of these buildings,
designed in a vernacular style, have gabled corrugated-metal roofs. The walls of the barn are also corrugated-metal. Two
ventilators pierce the ridgeline of the barn roof. The walls of the feed shed are open, except on its west end, the roof supported by
wooden posts. A shed with open walls and its own metal roof is attached to the northerly side of the barn. Corrals, fenced with
wood or metal, surround the buildings. A round feed hopper is immediately adjacent to the east side of the barn.

The barn and feed shed were constructed in 1954 under the general oversight of the campus architect Frederick H. Kennedy, Jr.
They are the oldest still-extant agricultural buildings on the campus and hark back to the days when the college was still in the
middle of a prosperous rural area. Integrity is good.

*P3b. Resource Attributes: {Llét;/m'ibutas and codes) Farm/Ranch (HP33)
*P4. Resources Present: vilding OStructure OObject OSite ODistrict E‘élemenl of District [OOther (Isolates, etc.)

i e T i P5b. Descripﬁon Of PhOtO: Mﬂw.
|P5a. Photo or Drawina (Phatn = e
North and west sides, looking
southeast 6/5/02

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: istoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Facilities Action Plan

*P7. Owner and Address:

Mt. San Antonio College

1100 North Grand Avenue

Walnut, CA 91789-1399
*P8. Recorded by: (Name,
affiliation, and address)

Tim Gregory DBA The Building
Biographer

400 E. California Blvd., #3
Pasadena, CA 91106
*P9. Date Recorded: 5/27/03
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Reconnaissance survey as part of
campus master planning

*P11. Report Citation: (Cite survey report and other sources, or enter "none.") None

*Attachments: ONONE o%on Map Bﬁtetch Map Dtgltinuation Sheet [OBuilding, Structure, and Object Record
DOArchaeological Record istrict Record [OLinear Feature Record [OMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
DArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information
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APPENDIX C
NAHC Response Letter

CRER Mt. SAC SEIR for 2015 FMPU and PEP






STATE OF CALIFORNIA
NATIVE AMERICAN HERITAGE COMMISSION

1550 Harbor Bivd., Suite 100
West Sacramento, CA 95691
(916) 373-3710

Fax (916) 373-5471

February 10, 2016

Sherri Andrews, M.A., J.D., RPA
ASM Affiliates

Sent by Email: sandrews @asmaffiliates.com
Number of Pages: Z-

RE: Proposed 2015 Traffic Study and Physical Education Division Projects, City of Walnut, Los
Angeles County, California

Dear Ms.Andrews:

A record search of the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) Sacred Lands
File was completed for the area of potential project effect (APE) referenced above with negative
results. Please note that the absence of specific site information in the Sacred Lands File does
not indicate the absence of Native American cultural resources in any APE.

| suggest you contact all of the listed Tribes. If they cannot supply information, they might
recommend others with specific knowledge. The list should provide a starting place to locate
areas of potential adverse impact within the APE. By contacting all those on the list, your
organization will be better able to respond to claims of failure to consult. If a response has not
been received within two weeks of notification, the NAHC requests that you follow-up with a
telephone call to ensure that the project information has been received.

if you receive notification of change of addresses and phone numbers from any of these
individuals or groups, please notify me. With your assistance we are able to assure that our
lists contain current information. If you have any questions or need additional information,
please contact via email: gayle.totton@nahc.ca.gov.

Sincerely,

Associate Governmental Program Analyst




' Native American Contact List
Los Angeles County
February 10, 2016

Tongva Ancestral Territorial Tribal Nation
John Tommy Rosas, Tribal Admin.

’ Gabrielino Tongva
tattnlaw @gmail.com

(310) 570-6567

Gabrieleno/Tongva San Gabriel Band of Mission Indians
Anthony Morales, Chairperson
P.O. Box 693

San Gabriel , CA 91778

GTTribalcouncil@aol.com

(626) 483-3564 Cell

Gabrielino Tongva

(626) 286-1262 Fax

Gabrielino /Tongva Nation
Sandonne Goad, Chairperson
106 1/2 Judge John Aiso St., #231
Los Angeles , CA 90012

sgoad@gabrielino-tongva.com

(951) 807-0479

Gabrielino Tongva

Gabrielino Tongva Indians of California Tribal Council
Robert F. Dorame, Tribal Chair/Cultural Resources
P.O. Box 490 Gabrielino Tongva
Bellflower » CA 90707

gtongva@verizon.net

(562) 761-6417 Voice/Fax

Gabrielino-Tongva Tribe
Bernie Acuna, Co-Chairperson

1999 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1100

Gabrielino
Los Angeles , CA 90067

(310) 428-5690 Cell

This list is current only as of the date of this document.

Los Angeles

Gabrielino-Tongva Tribe

Linda Candelaria, Co-Chairperson .

1998 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1100 Gabrielino
Los Angeles , CA 90067

(626) 676-1184 Cell

Gabrieleno Band of Mission Indians - Kizh Nation
Andrew Salas, Chairperson

P.O. Box 393 Gabrielino
Covina » CA 91723
gabrielenoindians@yahoo.com

(626) 926-4131

Gabrielino-Tongva Tribe

Conrad Acuna

1999 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1100 Gabrielino

» CA 90067

Gabrielino /Tongva Nation

Sam Dunlap, Cultural Resources Director

P.O. Box 86908 Gabrielino Tongva
Los Angeles , CA 90086

samdunlap @earthlink.net

(909) 262-9351

Distribution of this list does not relieve any person of statutory responsibility as defined in Section 7050.5 of the Health and
Safety Code, Section 5097.94 of the Public Resources Code and Section 5097.98 of the Public Resources Code.

This list Is only applicable for contacting local Native Americans with regard to cultural resources for the proposed
2015 Traffic Study and Physical Education Division Project, City of Walnut, Los Angeles County, California.
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APPENDIX D

Original Architectural Drawings

CRER Mt. SAC SEIR for 2015 FMPU and PEP






APPENDIX D - ORIGINAL ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS INDEX

Building 1A: First Floor Plan
Building 1A: Building Elevations
Building 4: Lower Floor Plan
Building 4: Upper Floor Plan
Building 4: Building Elevations
Building 6: Building Elevations
Building 7: Second Floor Plan
Building 7: Building Elevations
Building 7: North Elevation
Building 9A: Building Floor Plan
Building 9A: Building Elevations
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Building 12: Building Floor Plans
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w

Building 12: Building Elevations

-
E

Building 47: Building Floor Plans

o
o

Building 47: Building Elevations

Building 48: Building Floor Plan

17. Building 48: Building Elevations

18-25. Building 50ABC: Building Elevations, Plans, Sections
26. Buildings F1-F4A: Site Plan

27. Building F2A: Building Elevations

28. Building F3A: Building Elevations

29. Building F4A: Building Elevations

30. Building G2: Building Floor Plan

31. Wildlife Sanctuary: Site Plan

-
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Appendix D — Original Architectural Drawings
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